
 

 
 
Notice of meeting of  
 

Carers Review Task Group 
 
To: Councillors Boyce, Holvey and Wiseman 

 
Date: Tuesday, 14 December 2010 

 
Time: 4.30 pm 

 
Venue: The Guildhall, York 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Chair    
 To elect a Member to act as Chair of the meeting. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point Members are asked to declare any personal or 

prejudicial interests they may have in the business on this 
agenda. 
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting, members of the public who have 

registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or 
an issue within the Group’s remit can do so. The deadline for 
registering is by 5.00pm on Monday 13 December 2010.  
 
To register please contact the Democracy Officer whose details 
are set out at the end of this agenda. 
 

4. Carer's Review   (Pages 3 - 122) 
 This report presents Members of the Task Group with 

information for consideration in order to progress the carer’s 
review. 
 

5. Any other business which the Chair considers urgent 
under the Local Government Act 1972   

 

 



 
    
 Democracy Officer: 

 
Name: Jill Pickering 
Contact Details: 

• Telephone – (01904) 552061 
• Email – jill.pickering@york.gov.uk 

 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting  
 

• Registering to speak 
• Written Representations 
• Business of the meeting 
• Any special arrangements 
• Copies of reports 

Contact details are set out above 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



About City of York Council Meetings 
 

Would you like to speak at this meeting? 
If you would, you will need to: 

• register by contacting the Democracy Officer (whose name and contact 
details can be found on the agenda for the meeting) no later than 5.00 
pm on the last working day before the meeting; 

• ensure that what you want to say speak relates to an item of business on 
the agenda or an issue which the committee has power to consider (speak 
to the Democracy Officer for advice on this); 

• find out about the rules for public speaking from the Democracy Officer. 
A leaflet on public participation is available on the Council’s website or 
from Democratic Services by telephoning York (01904) 551088 
 
Further information about what’s being discussed at this meeting 
All the reports which Members will be considering are available for viewing 
online on the Council’s website.  Alternatively, copies of individual reports or the 
full agenda are available from Democratic Services.  Contact the Democracy 
Officer whose name and contact details are given on the agenda for the 
meeting. Please note a small charge may be made for full copies of the 
agenda requested to cover administration costs. 
 
Access Arrangements 
We will make every effort to make the meeting accessible to you.  The meeting 
will usually be held in a wheelchair accessible venue with an induction hearing 
loop.  We can provide the agenda or reports in large print, electronically 
(computer disk or by email), in Braille or on audio tape.  Some formats will take 
longer than others so please give as much notice as possible (at least 48 hours 
for Braille or audio tape).   
 
If you have any further access requirements such as parking close-by or a sign 
language interpreter then please let us know.  Contact the Democracy Officer 
whose name and contact details are given on the order of business for the 
meeting. 
 
Every effort will also be made to make information available in another 
language, either by providing translated information or an interpreter providing 
sufficient advance notice is given.  Telephone York (01904) 551550 for this 
service. 

 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



 
Holding the Executive to Account 
The majority of councillors are not appointed to the Executive (40 out of 47).  
Any 3 non-Executive councillors can ‘call-in’ an item of business from a 
published Executive (or Executive Member Decision Session) agenda. The 
Executive will still discuss the ‘called in’ business on the published date and will 
set out its views for consideration by a specially convened Scrutiny 
Management Committee (SMC).  That SMC meeting will then make its 
recommendations to the next scheduled Executive meeting in the following 
week, where a final decision on the ‘called-in’ business will be made.  
 
Scrutiny Committees 
The purpose of all scrutiny and ad-hoc scrutiny committees appointed by the 
Council is to:  

• Monitor the performance and effectiveness of services; 
• Review existing policies and assist in the development of new ones, as 

necessary; and 
• Monitor best value continuous service improvement plans 

 
Who Gets Agenda and Reports for our Meetings?  

• Councillors get copies of all agenda and reports for the committees to 
which they are appointed by the Council; 

• Relevant Council Officers get copies of relevant agenda and reports for 
the committees which they report to;  

• Public libraries get copies of all public agenda/reports.  
 

Page 2



 

 

  
 

   

 
Carer’s Review Task Group 14th December 2010 
 
Report of the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & ITT 
 

Cover Report – Carer’s Review 

Summary 

1. This report presents Members of the Task Group with information on the following 
for consideration: 

• Good practice examples regarding carer identification 

• Current practice in York 

• Key partners 
 

 Background 

2. The Task Group have set the following remit: 

Aim 

3. To promote the valuable work done by carers and to improve the way City of York 
Council and its key partners identify carers and ensure they have access to 
information and the support available. 

Key Objectives 

i. To raise awareness of carers 

ii. To improve access to information for carers 

Consultation  

4. To date consultation has taken place between the Task Group and the relevant 
Council Officers. The scope and timetable for this review envisage the involvement 
of key partners, members of the public and the voluntary sector at varying stages of 
the review. 

Options  

5. There are no specific options associated with the recommendations in this report. 

 
 

Agenda Item 4Page 3



 

Analysis 
 
6. Members are asked to consider the information attached to this report in order to 

progress this review. The Task Group may wish to be mindful that at their next 
informal meeting they will be creating a questionnaire for carers, carers’ forums and 
carer specialist workers amongst others. The questionnaire should allow the Task 
Group to understand the personal experiences of all types of carers, how they were 
identified and the types of support and information available to them. 

Corporate Priorities 

7. This topic is linked to the ‘Healthy City’ aspect of the Corporate Strategy 2009/2012. 

 Implications 

8. Financial – there are no financial implications associated with the 
recommendations within this report however implications may arise as the review 
progresses and these will be addressed accordingly. There is a small budget of 
£500 allocated to any scrutiny review undertaken. The Carers’ Review is likely to 
need to allocate some of these funds to the printing costs of the questionnaire, 
postage of the questionnaire (where necessary) and room hire and refreshments for 
the proposed public event in January 2011. 

9. Human Resources – there are no known Human Resources implications 
associated with the recommendation within this report, however implications may 
arise as the review progresses. 

10. Legal – there are no known legal implications associated with the 
recommendations within this report however, implications may arise as the review 
progresses. 

11. There are no other implications associated with the recommendations in this report. 

Risk Management 
 

12. There are currently no risks associated with this review and none associated with 
the recommendations within this report. 

 Recommendations 

13. Members are asked to consider and discuss the information attached in the 
annexes to this report. 

Reason: To progress this review. 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

Tracy Wallis 
Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny Services 

Andrew Docherty 
Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & ITT 
Tel: 01904 551004 

Page 4



 

Report Approved ü Date 02.12.2010 
    

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s) None 
 
Wards Affected:  All ü 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 
 
The Carer’s Strategy Manager has referenced a wealth of material in Papers 1, 2 and 3 
attached to this agenda. These are referenced in detail within the attached papers and are 
also listed below for ease of reference: 
 
Please note that these documents can be made available via e-mail. Please contact the 
Scrutiny Officer for further details. 
 
Paper 1: Footnoted Documents 
Footnote 1 Recognised, Valued & Supported: The Next Step for the Carer’s Strategy  - 

November 2010 
Footnote 2 The Importance of Information for Carers 
Footnote 3 A Systematic Review of Interventions for Carers in the UK: Outcomes & 

Explanatory Evidence 
Footnote 4 Supporting Carers – Early Intervention & Better Outcomes 
Footnote 5 Commissioning Better Outcomes for Carers and Knowing If You Have 
Footnote 6 Older Carers in the UK 
Footnote 7 Older People Profile Version 1 
Footnote 8 Carer Awareness Training – Proposal for Resource to be Part of the Carer’s 

Pathway 
 
Paper 1: Appendix 2: Supporting Documents 
• Implementing the Carer’s Strategy in the East Midlands – A toolkit to support self 

assessment and compendium of good practice 
• Good Practice Guide for Carers October 2008 – North West Carer Leads Network 
 
Annexes 
 
Paper 1  Background information, good practice & themes and issues 
Appendix 1  Success Factors 
Appendix 2  Sources of Information 
Paper 2  Current Practice in York 
Annex A  York Strategy for Carers 2009-2011 
Annex B  Action Plan - Summary for 2009-10 
Annex C  Action Plan – Current 2010-2012 
Paper 3  Key Partners 
Annex D  A-Z of Useful Organisations 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Health OSC Carer Review – Paper 1 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   

 
 

Carer Review Paper 1 
 

Carer identification, carer awareness 
raising and information provision: good 

practice examples 
 
 
CONTENTS: 
 

1 Background Information 
 

- National policy context 
- Profile of caring 
- Carer identification and models of prevention 
- Demographic change and Area Based Working 

 
2 Good practice examples from other areas 
 

- Information for carers 
- Carer identification 
- Carer awareness raising 
- Targeted health focused interventions 

 
3 Themes 
 

Appendix 1 

‘Success Factors’, Anthony Pugh, Project Manager Carers Strategy, 
Yorkshire and the Humber 

Appendix 2 
 
Sources of information 
 
 
 

Page 7



 
Health OSC Carer Review – Paper 1 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   

1 Background information 

National policy context 
HM Government’s refreshed carers’ strategy ‘Recognised, valued and 
supported: Next steps for the Carers Strategy’ was published on 25th 
November 2010. 1 There has been limited time for analysis, but the key 
messages relevant to this review are in section 1 ‘Identification and 
Recognition’ where ‘Priority area 1’ is outlined as: 
 

‘Supporting those with caring responsibilities to identify themselves as 
carers at an early stage, recognising the value of their contribution and 
involving them from the outset both in designing local care provision and 
in planning individual care packages’ 

 
The next steps listed on page 12 of that document are also relevant. 
 
The review process will need to involve closer analysis of this Government 
document. 

Profile of caring 
Census figures record 17,009 carers in York in 2001, and 342 young carers 
aged 8 – 17. The population in York has risen by 9.8%, and gives rise to an 
estimate in carer numbers of 18,676 in 2010. In 2009/10 CYC completed 
assessments or reviews for 1473 carers. York Carers Centre currently has 
1959 carers registered on its database.  
 
Carers are of all ages. Most adult carers of children and adults with severe 
and long-term disabilities or illnesses will be identified through provision of 
health and social care services. Carers of people with enduring mental health 
problems may also be identified when the person they care for accesses 
treatment.  This means that carers in significant need may well be identified at 
the point at which the person they care for accesses health or social care 
services. Many carers are sustained in their role through natural support from 
their communities and networks. 
 
It is estimated that 37% of the caring population start caring and a similar 
proportion cease caring every year in the UK, which means over 6,000 new 
carers in York annually. Carers were surveyed by Carers UK for a report in 
2006, and 65% did not identify themselves as a carer in the first year of 
caring. The report recommends that information strategies target carers in the 
first year of caring.  2 
                                            
1 National Carers Strategy, November 2010. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidanc
e/DH_122077 
2 The Importance of Information for Carers, Carers UK 2006, p2, p9 and 12. 

Page 8



 
Health OSC Carer Review – Paper 1 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   

Carer identification and models of prevention 
A systematic review of interventions for carers in the UK outlines that limited 
research evidence is available about the outcomes of information services. 3 
Two reports published jointly by the Association of Directors of Adult Social 
Services (ADASS) and the Princess Royal Trust for Carers (PRTC) in 2010 
however, provide supporting evidence that early identification can reduce risk 
of more intensive care being needed later on and promote better outcomes for 
carers and the person they look after. 4 5 
 
Early intervention and prevention are important in the provision of support to 
carers and the people they look after, but there are differing models. This 
includes providing ‘preventative’ information and advice to people with low 
level needs; but can also mean taking specific actions to prevent further 
deterioration in people with already high needs. 
 
It may be useful to adopt the idea of two levels of need to help inform plans 
about carer identification: 
 

• Low level need: aim to promote/maintain independence and 
wellbeing 
Provision of information to carers and those they care for where there 
are no specific needs for social or health care interventions. 
 
• Higher level need: aim to identify risk, halt and/or minimise 
deterioration 
Provision of information, advice and signposting to identify needs, risks 
and interventions required to sustain the carer in their caring role 

Demographic change and Area Based Working 
It is estimated that 25% of all carers in the UK are aged over 60. Based on 
2001 census information 13.5% of the people in York who are aged 60+ are 
carers. 6 
 
York’s older population (55+) will increase by 32.7% within the next 20 years.7 
This means that there is likely to be an increase in the numbers of carers who 
are older, and more demand upon people of all ages to become unpaid carers 
of older people. 
 
City of York Council’s (CYC) Area Based Working Pilot is underway, and one 
of the emerging themes is to improve lives for older people locally. This may 
                                            
3 Victor, E. (2009) A Systematic Review of Interventions for Carers in the UK: 
Outcomes and Explanatory Evidence. London: The Princess Royal Trust for Carers. 
4 Supporting Carers – Early Intervention and Better Outcomes, ADASS/PRTC, May 2010 
5 Commissioning Better Outcomes for Carers and knowing if you have, ADASS/PRTC May 
2010 
6 Older Carers in the UK, Lisa Buckner and Sue Yeandle, Sheffield Hallam University/Carers 
UK, 2005 
7 Older People Profile Version 1, City of York Council Performance and Improvement Team, 
June 2010 

Page 9



 
Health OSC Carer Review – Paper 1 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   

well provide an opportunity to share and focus resources in particular wards 
or local areas, by working with ward partnerships. York Carers Centre has 
started a programme of outreach work, focusing on making links with GP 
practices and concentrating on local areas e.g. Haxby and Huntington, where 
there is likely to be a high prevalence of carers. 
 
2 Good practice examples from other areas 
 
Information for carers 
A variety of approaches to information provision exist in other areas: 
 

• Hertfordshire County Council has a ‘whole area’ approach 
developing a ‘core information offer’ with commitment from every agency 
signed up to the Hertfordshire Carers Strategy to implement the model. 
• Nottinghamshire commissioned Carers UK to analyse information 
and found that carers received similar information several times. As a 
result a new information pack is available which can be tailored to the 
individual, is available via different routes, and will be delivered through 
a multi-agency dissemination strategy. 
• Kirklees ‘Carers Gateway’ provide ’one stop shops’ where Gateway 
Workers assist carers to access information, services and support. 
• Wakefield has a ‘whole system’ approach whereby local agencies 
work in partnership to provide a local based information service to 
carers. 
• Dudley Social Services produce ‘The Dudley Carers Guide to … 
Factsheets’. These are a series, which aim to signpost carers to the 
information and services they need. 
• North Lincolnshire produce a guide with details of support available 
locally that is regularly updated and in ring binder format. The intention is 
for this to become a personalised reference document for the carer. 
• Oldham Carers Magazine is produced by a partnership of carers 
working with PCT and local authority partners to produce a ‘high street’ 
style publication. 

 
Carer Identification 

• NE Lincolnshire Care Trust Plus has received funding to identify 
“hidden” and hard to reach carers by providing an outreach service, 
deploying local community facilities and a converted bus. 
• Sunderland Carers Centre has a range of targets for reaching 
particular groups and communities i.e. most deprived communities and 
overlooked groups. 
• Carers Support Centre Brigg is working to recruit two part-time, 
temporary “expert carers” to act as “Carers Champions” in GP practices 
aiming to increase the numbers of carer identified and signposted to 
carers’ services. 
• Warrington Housebound Reader Service has enabled isolated 
carers to be identified, supplied with books and provided with relevant 
information. 

Page 10



 
Health OSC Carer Review – Paper 1 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   

• Carers Northumberland work as a ‘virtual carers centre’. They have 
an outreach approach with telephone support and Internet conferencing 
used as means of contacting carers and enabling mutual support in a 
rural area. 
• Lancashire County Council’s Staff Carer’s Register enables staff 
to receive up to date information to support them as working carers. 
They have access to support and advice that is confidential and 
independent of their line manager. 

 
Carer Awareness Raising 

• Regional Training Programme In 2009/10 a programme of carer 
awareness training courses were funded for ‘key workers’ across the 
Yorkshire and Humber region as part of the Region’s work to implement 
the 2008 National Strategy. 
• Halton has delivered presentation to GP surgery staff and Hospital 
Social Work staff and distributed Newsletters, posters and other 
information to increase carer awareness. 
• Cheshire Carers Link Model was developed through the multi-
agency Strategy Group identifying ‘carer link workers’ or ‘champions’ 
across health and social care teams. The carer link workers take on 
additional responsibilities and are a pivotal point of contact to provide 
advice, information and support to colleagues. Workers are provided 
with training and a toolkit to help them in their role. 
• Dudley has launched an e-learning tool called ‘Carer Aware’ which 
provides basic carer awareness training. 
http://etraining.dudley.gov.uk/nolms/launch_ca01_nolms.html# 
Other local authorities are planning to use this tool developed by Cylix 
Ltd. 

 
Targeted health focussed interventions 
 
The Moffat Programme (Scotland) http://professionals.carers.org/social-
care/articles/the-moffat-programme,4411,PR.html 

This is a fully funded programme with four pilot sites, which involves the 
delivery of carer awareness training to NHS staff. The good practice 
models and protocols developed by this programme aim to ensure that 
all carers who come into contact with health are: 

- Systematically identified  
- Signposted to local advice  
- Made aware of their rights and can access appropriate support 

to help them with their caring responsibilities 
 
Projects receiving National Demonstrator Site funding which 
incorporate carer awareness raising: 
 
London Borough of Camden and NHS Camden 
The aim of the project is to improve or maintain the health and wellbeing of 
carers in the four most deprived wards in Camden. These wards have the 
highest levels of health inequalities in Camden, high numbers caring for more 

Page 11



 
Health OSC Carer Review – Paper 1 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   

than 50 hours per week and above average numbers of learning disability 
carers. Three of the wards have over 25% BAME populations and higher than 
average levels of substance misuse. 
The proposed model involves: 

• Raising awareness and identifying carers.  
• Completing health and wellbeing checks.  
• Referring to a variety of community based health promotion services, 
financial advice and training. 
• Active case management to support carers with chosen 
interventions.  
• Referral to GP or social care services for ongoing treatment and 
care.  

 
Northamptonshire Teaching PCT 
The Northamptonshire project has 4 key elements: 

• Joint planning and commissioning  
• Professional awareness and development  
• Information strategy  
• Healthier carers/carers’ services.  

Key aspects of the project include: 
• Building on existing initiatives including Carers Assessment and 
Support Workers in acute hospital and other settings, personal budgets, 
support for young carers, single assessment process, Caring Northants 
website and Wellbeing teams.  
• Dedicated role of Carer’s Health Lead, to raise the profile of carer’s 
issues, co-ordinate current initiatives and lead on project management 
and joint carers commissioning post.  
• Carer Assessment and Support Workers within primary care settings 
to improve identification of and support for carers in those settings. 
These staff have a dual role, to support professional development as 
well as provide direct carer support.  
• Information strategy extended to include good healthcare information 
for carers and professionals.  

 
Swindon Primary Care Trust (PCT) 
Swindon PCT hopes to build upon progress so far on increasing support for 
carers within the NHS by: 

• Developing a suite of carer pathways that recognise differing routes 
into the NHS and individual carer experiences, e.g. sudden onset illness, 
end-of-life caring situations etc 
• Developing referral protocols within and between primary and 
secondary care, mental health services, and joint community teams  
• Creating a ‘carer liaison’ team and volunteer ‘carer liaison roles’, 
enabling proactive identification of carers to encompass out of hours 
periods  
• Increasing the number of ‘carer leads’ roles within teams and partner 
agencies  
• Developing modular training for clinical, nursing and frontline staff  

Page 12



 
Health OSC Carer Review – Paper 1 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   

• Developing a ‘carer aware’ accreditation system enabling the 
achievement of different levels of support for carers to be recognised, 
and user to inform the development of further good practice  
• Audit of assessment and referral forms used within NHS settings and 
piloting of alternative documentation.  

 
3 Themes and issues 
 
Carer Information and Identification 
 

• Format of information for carers 
Many approaches exist to the format of information provided for carers. 
See Paper 3 for existing good practice in York, and the current work of 
the Carers Information Group. 
 
• Carer ‘turnover’ 
There is a high proportion of carers who are new to caring every year, 
and a need to ensure they have access to relevant information. 

 
• Carer identification  
A distinction between carers who have low level needs and those with 
higher level needs may be helpful in targeting information provision to 
aid carer identification of those carers who are most in need. 

 
• Carer Awareness Raising 
The potential of e-learning tools is already demonstrated within the 
Adults, Children & Education Directorate (ACE) -see paper 3 for good 
practice examples, and details of current work. York Carers Strategy 
group agreed in October 2010 to implement the first stage of a Carer 
Awareness Raising training proposal.8 

 
Multi-agency issues 
 

• ‘Whole area’ working 
A number of areas have implemented this approach featuring an explicit 
multi-agency commitment to carer identification and care awareness 
raising. 
 
• Carers champions 
Some areas have implemented an ‘official’ system of carers champions 
across health and social care teams and organisations 

 
 
 
                                            
8 ‘Carer Awareness Training – proposal for resource to be part of the Carers Pathway’ paper 
presented by Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, to York Carers Strategy Group 
meeting, October 2010. 

Page 13



 
Health OSC Carer Review – Paper 1 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   

CYC related issues 
 

• Corporate approach to supporting carers 
Carers are local citizens whose needs can be supported across CYC 
Directorates and local communities. Embedding a ‘carer aware’ 
approach into the work of CYC will encourage efficient use of resources.  

 
• Localism and area based working 
Including carer information and identification work in the Areas Based 
Working pilot will help to target older carers, and carers looking after 
older people, which is an emerging theme. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 
Health OSC Carer Review – Paper 1 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   

Appendix 1 
 
 

(Please note that this is anecdotal evidence collected by Anthony Pugh, 
Regional Project Manager, Yorkshire and Humber Region. It has been widely 
shared, but is not formally validated.) 

 
 

Developing and Implementing Services for Carers 
 

Success Factors 
 
 
 
 

• Political support – lead member for ASC also the carers’ champion 
 

• Senior management support (from Chief Exec level) 
 

• Named carers’ champions from health include lead clinicians 
 

• Engagement with carers at all levels 
 

• “Carers” an item on all meeting agendas 
 

• Absolute commitment to working with carers 
 

• Joint commissioning of carers’ services 
 

• Dedicated post (jointly funded) for carers 
 

• Carer lead officer has control of carers’ budget 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



 
Health OSC Carer Review – Paper 1 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   

Appendix 2 
 
 
Sources of information about good practice 
 

1. ‘Implementing the Carers Strategy in the East Midlands – a toolkit to 
support self-assessment and compendium of good practice’. First 
Edition, November 2009. Author Paul Mansfield 

 
2. ‘Good Practice Guide for Carers October 2008, North West Carer 

Leads Network’. ADASS 
 

3. Information by phone and email from Yorkshire and the Humber 
Regional Carers Leads network members; Tony Pugh, Project 
Manager - Carers Strategy Yorkshire and the Humber. 

 
4. Information supplied by York Carers Centre and PRTC regional 

network. 
 

5. Princess Royal Trust for Carers website http://www.carers.org/ 
 

6. Carers UK website http://www.carersuk.org/Home 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 
OSC Carer Review – Paper 2 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   
 

Carer Review Paper 2 
Current Practice in York 

 
Background documents 
 
1. York Strategy for Carers 1 (Annex A) 
The local Strategy was compiled in response to the publication by the then 
Government of the National Strategy in 2008 “Carers at the heart of 21st 
century families and communities “A caring system on your side. A life of your 
own.” It has recently been agreed to extend the Strategy and the resultant 
Action Plan to 2012, in the light of the current refresh of the National Strategy. 
It is expected that this refreshed Strategy will be published in the week of 29th 
November 2010.  
 
2. Action Plan - Summary for 2009-10 2 (Annex B) 
This summarises the progress achieved in 2009/10.  
 
3. Action Plan – Current 3 (Annex C) 
This the current working document which includes four identified priority 
areas. 
 
Current good practice in York 
 
Progress, achievements and opportunities 
 
• Carers Information Group is a task group of the Carers Strategy Group. 
The membership is currently under review. This group successfully developed 
the first Carers Information Pack, which was launched in April 2009. This was 
updated and reprinted in April 2010.  
 
• Carers Information Pack 
http://www.york.gov.uk/health/carers/information/informationpack/ 
The pack comprises 5 core leaflets including a ‘Quick Guide to Services for 
Carers’. The pack is given to carers who request or receive a Carers 
Assessment of Need, and when carers register with York Carers Centre. The 
‘Quick Guide’ is distributed more widely. This pack is under review to ensure 
effective future provision of accurate and up to date information for carers. 
Work on effective distribution of information continues to pose challenges. 
 
Current indications are that the pack may not be the best tool in the future, 
and that a move towards producing Fact sheets for carers may be advisable 
and more cost effective. 
 

                                            
1 York Strategy for Carers 2009 - 2011 
2 York Carers Strategy Group, Action Plan Summary for 2009-10 
3 York Carers Strategy Group, Action Plan 2010 - 12 

Page 17



 
OSC Carer Review – Paper 2 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   
 

• DVDs produced by local carer’s groups 
In 2010 two local carers’ forums produced DVDs. Young Carers Revolution 
has produced a range of media material including a DVD called the ‘Unusual 
Suspects’ to raise awareness about the needs of young carers. The group are 
particularly keen to target schools and GPs. 
 
In addition, due to funding from the Yorkshire and Humber Region concerned 
with implementation of the National Strategy 2008, and aimed at supporting 
carer awareness training, York St John University in partnership with York 
Carers Forum produced a DVD: ‘Carers Stories – A Life of My Own?’ 
 
• Links to Adults, Children & Education Directorate’s (ACE) 
information provision 
The Carers Information Group is liaising with CYC’s ACE directorate on work 
to consolidate information provision for children and adults. The Family 
Information Service and YorOK website provide information concerning 
families and children. A Quickheart web portal is planned for Adults Services 
as part of the implementation of Putting People First. 
 
• E-learning tools under development 
The Carers Strategy Group has agreed to development work, which is now 
underway, to produce e-learning materials which can be used to provide a 
basic level of carer awareness raising to workers in health and social care 
agencies. This work is being undertaken by York Carers Centre in liaison with 
the Carers Strategy Manager. 
 
• York Carers Centre 
This service is commissioned by CYC and NHS North Yorkshire and York and 
is required to become a focal point for information provision and sign posting 
for carers to ensure carers have easy access to information about services 
and support. The Centre is working well towards achieving this outcome. 
 
• Development of ‘core information etc’ offer 
York Carers Centre is leading work in designing a ‘Core Offer’ for carers in 
York concerning information and other services such as the Carers Discount 
Card and the Carers Emergency Card. 
 
• Accessible information group 
This local task group is chaired by the Information and Development Worker 
at York Carers Centre. 
 
• YCC work with GPs surgeries 
York Carers Centre has made contact with all the GPs surgeries in York in the 
past year. Close links have been made with one surgery on the outskirts of 
York where a weekly advice session for carers is being trailed as a pilot 
project. 
 
 

Page 18



 
OSC Carer Review – Paper 2 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   
 

• Carers Health Steering Group 
This group currently meets quarterly, and its membership includes key local 
professionals from health and other organisations. It is important that this 
group works in partnership with the Carers Information Group on all initiatives 
where there is an implication for health services. 
 
 
 

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A 

 1

  
 
 

York 
Strategy 
for Carers 

 

 
2009 - 2011 

Page 21



Annex A 

 2

 
 

YORK STRATEGY FOR CARERS 2009- 2011 
 

Contents 
 
 

Executive Summary 
 

Chapter 1  Introduction 
 

Chapter 2  Why we need a strategy 
 

Chapter 3  Carers in York 
 

Chapter 4  Local planning and priorities 
 

Chapter 5  How are we doing 
 

Chapter 6  Key Priorities and Targets for  2009 – 2011 
 
Chapter 7  Implementation 

 
 

Glossary 
 

Appendix 1:  National drivers 
 
Appendix 2: Local strategies and service plans 
 
Appendix 3: Equality Impact Assessment  
 
Appendix 4:  Useful contacts 

 
 

Page 22



Annex A 

 3

Executive Summary 
 

Introduction 
This Carers Strategy is a statement of how services and support for carers in 
York will be developed until 2011. In June 2008 the government published a 
new national strategy for carers -  Carers at the heart of 21st century families 
and communities “A caring system on your side. A life of your own.” The 
National Strategy gives a framework for a ten-year programme and a vision for 
what the government wants to see in place for carers by 2018: 
 

..carers will be recognised and valued as being fundamental to strong 
families and stable communities. Support will be tailored to meet the 
individuals’ needs enabling carers to maintain a balance between 
their caring responsibilities and a life outside caring, whilst enabling 
the person they support to be a full and equal citizen. 

 

York Carers Strategy incorporates the five outcomes for carers outlined in the 
National Strategy and listed below, and takes account of the short-term 
commitments announced by the government for service development 
nationally. York’s Strategy builds on the work undertaken locally over a 
number of years, especially the Action Plan for 2006 – 2008. 
 
 

Why we need a strategy 
 

There is an ageing population, people are living longer and many will develop 
long term conditions. Many people balance paid work, childcare and unpaid 
caring. Families may well live at a distance from their relatives. People who 
have care needs increasingly want to maintain maximum choice and control 
over their lives. Many people will find themselves taking on a caring role at 
some point in their lives. 
 

The National Strategy is linked to wider health and social care reforms which 
recognise the important role that carers play in society. Health and social care 
services are aiming to promote individual choice and independence, with a 
shift towards prevention, and early intervention. 
 

The National Strategy outlines five outcomes to work towards: 
 

• Carers will be respected as expert care partners and will have access to 
the integrated and personalised services they need to support them in 
their caring role; 

 

• Carers will be able to have a life of their own alongside their caring role; 
 

• Carers will be supported so that they are not forced into financial 
hardship by their caring role; 

 

Page 23



Annex A 

 4

• Carers will be supported to stay mentally and physically well and treated 
with dignity; 

 

• Children and young people will be protected from inappropriate caring 
and have the support they need to learn, develop, and thrive, to enjoy 
positive childhoods and to achieve against all the Every Child Matters 
outcomes. 

 
 

Carers in York 
 

Carers are of every age and from all groups in society. The experience of 
caring varies from person to person. Some people never identify themselves 
as a carer, but see themselves as looking after a relative as part and parcel of 
that relationship. The figures used to estimate the current numbers of carers 
are all based on the 2001 census. 
 

There are about 17,000 carers in York. This is over 9% of the population. 
Carers are not a static population and nationally about 2 million people take on 
new caring responsibilities every year. Many local carers may not have access 
to the information and advice they need.  There were 342 young carers aged 8 
– 17 years recorded in York in the 2001 census. There are approximately 
1350 carers registered with York Carers Centre and in 2006/07 1180 carers 
were identified as providing ‘regular and substantial’ care in York. There will be 
a rise in the numbers of older people in York in the coming years, meaning 
more people, including older people, will become carers. Research shows that 
carers often experience more ill-health than other members of the population. 
 

More needs to be done in York to identify and assess carers at the right time 
including work to identify ‘hidden’ carers, and those who may need specialist 
approaches such as carers from BME communities, and carers of people with 
substance misuse problems. 
 
Local planning and priorities 
 

The Local Area Agreement is a plan which sets out priorities which are agreed 
between central government and a Local Strategic Partnership. York’s 
partnership is called the ‘Without Walls’ partnership. There are ‘indicators’ that 
measure a local authorities performance and a reduced number were 
introduced in 2008. York highlights 35 key target areas for performance and 
one of these is the indicator for carers. The Joint Strategic Need Assessment 
2008 is produced by NYYPCT and CYC and summarises planning to develop 
services to improve health and wellbeing in York. The recommendation about 
carers is : 
 

‘Provide information and services that support carers in 
  the city. Monitor CYC supported carers through the 

Page 24



Annex A 

 5

  Local Area Agreement’.    
 

There are a number of other strategies and service plans for children and 
adults in York which detail planning intentions over the coming years for 
services related to a range of people in need, including older people, people 
with mental health problems and people with learning disabilities. The 
important role of carers and the need to support unpaid carers are included in 
many of these plans. 
 
 

How are we doing? 
 
This is a summary of work undertaken under the York Carers Strategy Action 
Plan 2006 – 2008. 
 

Achievements 
 
There have been many examples of partnership working; for example the 
production of the Primary Care Resource Pack for GPs surgeries and the Self 
Health Checklist by the Carers Information and Identification Group and 
Carers Self Health Steering Group who undertake projects in consultation with 
carers. Carers Week events in June 2008 were also jointly organised by a 
range of statutory and voluntary sector workers.  
 
The new Carers Emergency Card scheme was launched in May 2008 as a 
partnership between City of York Council’s Warden Call service and York 
Carers Centre. 
 

Carer involvement has developed in the City with two new carer led forums 
being set up during 2008. 
 

The Flexible Carer Support scheme, which provides direct payments to 
support carers, has become increasingly popular and feedback from carers 
shows that it does help sustain carers in their role. 
 

Following a review of services in the City, work is underway to re-provision 
York Carers Centre. The review identified that carers and others wanted a 
local, accessible and independent carers centre that could attract external 
sources of funding, in order to expand services to carers. Selby and York 
Carers Centre had been hosted by the Primary Care Trust for many years, 
and during 2008 a  decision was made by North Yorkshire County Council to 
provide a separate service for carers in Selby. In York progress has been 
made through work undertaken by York CVS, to set up an independent 
organisation to run the new York Carers Centre. A new service specification 
has been developed for the core service to be commissioned from the Centre 
by CYC and NYYPCT. 
 

Page 25



Annex A 

 6

The Carers Strategy Manager post is now permanent and full-time, and is 
supported by a dedicated full-time administrator. Three new City of York 
Council Carers Support Worker posts have been permanently established, to 
improve access to carers assessments. 
 
 
Areas for improvement 
 
Whilst there is much information available for carers, it is not widely available 
and accessible. The new York Carers Centre will have a key role in improving 
information provision for carers. 
 

More needs to be done to ensure carers who visit GP’s surgeries and primary 
care services are identified and signposted to appropriate sources of support. 
 

There is a need for greater and more consistent awareness about the needs of 
carers amongst all professionals, and more integrated working. 
 
Work is needed within City of York Council to ensure carers assessments are 
carried out and access to the Flexible Carer Support scheme maintained by 
keeping waiting times to a minimum. 
 

There needs to be more work inter-agency to meet the needs of Young Carers 
in York, including Young Adult Carers aged 18 – 24 years,  and work to 
improve joint working between adults and children’s services. 
 

 
Key priorities 
 

The following are the key priorities for 2009 – 11: 
 

INFORMATION – carers will have easy access to accurate information and 
advice; 
 

CARER INVOLVEMENT – carers will be involved in planning and monitoring 
the services they receive; 
 

INTEGRATED SERVICES – closer joint working, culture change and 
awareness raising for professionals; 
 

ACCESS TO SERVICES AND SUPPORT –  particularly leisure and transport; 
 

BREAKS – carers should have access to a range of flexible breaks; 
 

FINANCIAL SUPPORT – carers should have access to accurate welfare 
benefits advice; 
 

EMPLOYMENT SUPPORT – ensure carers in paid employment are 
supported; 

Page 26



Annex A 

 7

 

PRIMARY CARE  - ensure carer identification and support increases; 
  
YOUNG CARERS – will be protected from inappropriate caring and have the 
support they need. 
 
YOUNG ADULT CARERS - Work is required to continue and extend the 
service provided by York Carers Centre to young adult carers. 
 
Implementing the Strategy 

 
The Carers Strategy Group has been in place in York for some years. It is a 
multi-agency group including carer members alongside professionals from City 
of York Council, the Primary Care Trust and voluntary sector organisations. 
The group agreed an Action Plan for 2006 – 2008 to ensure everybody worked 
to provide good services and support to unpaid carers in the City of York. The 
Action Plan ended in March 2008, and this Strategy aims to review progress, 
and renew the Action Plan. It will set priorities for work to improve services and 
support to carers in York in light of the new National Strategy for carers 
published by HM Government in June 2008. With increasing pressures on 
Public Sector spending it is important that organisations work together to get 
the best for carers out of the available resources. 
 
All proposals for investment will need to be based on good evidence that the 
development will make a positive difference to peoples quality of life and be 
cost effective, because proposals will need to be considered alongside other 
competing priorities for health and social care investment. 
  

 

Page 27



Annex A 

 8

Chapter 1 Introduction 
 

In June 2008 the government published a new national strategy for carers -  
Carers at the heart of 21st century families and communities “A caring system 
on your side. A life of your own.”  The National Strategy gives a framework for 
a ten-year programme and a vision for what the government wants to see in 
place for carers by 2018: 
 

..carers will be recognised and valued as being fundamental to strong 
families and stable communities. Support will be tailored to meet the 
individuals’ needs enabling carers to maintain a balance between 
their caring responsibilities and a life outside caring, whilst enabling 
the person they support to be a full and equal citizen. 

 

York Carers Strategy incorporates the five outcomes for carers outlined in the 
National Strategy (see Chapter 2) and takes account of the short-term 
commitments announced by the government for service development 
nationally. York’s Strategy builds on the work undertaken locally over a 
number of years, especially the Action Plan for 2006 – 2008 which is reviewed 
in Chapter 5. 
 

The purpose of this Carers Strategy is: 
 

• to make clear the priorities for support and services to carers in York; 
• to ensure all carers and agencies are aware of the priorities; 
• to enable all agencies involved in community and health care to 

effectively promote the health and well-being of carers. 
 

Part of the process of strategy renewal has been to review the membership 
and structure of the Carers Strategy Group. The membership is to be renewed 
and a Core Commissioning Group to be formed with members from CYC 
Adults Services, CYC Children’s Services and NYYPCT. This group will agree 
commissioning priorities, and budget plans. Membership of the Carers 
Strategy Group will continue to be multi-disciplinary, and will include carer 
members. The group’s key function is to implement  the Carers Strategy, and 
to monitor and report on progress. The Group will ensure work is carried out 
with appropriate leadership in place, and that all work streams and sub-groups 
or task groups work to involve carers. 
 

Funding to support carers is received by every local authority in the form of the 
Carers Grant which includes funds to provide the Carers Emergency Card 
scheme which was launched in York in May 2008. The grant for 2009/10 is 
£669,000. The Government announced additional monies to provide breaks 
for carers, as part of the new National Strategy. This money will be received 
by PCT’s during 2009/11, and comprises a sum of £150 million across the 
country as a whole. 

Page 28



Annex A 

 9

Chapter 2 Why we need a strategy 
 
Social Care Reform 
 

Society is changing, people are living for longer, and many older people 
develop long-term clinical conditions. Many people also have rising aspirations 
and want to maintain independence and control and remain living at home. 
This will often result in a greater contribution from unpaid carers. 
 

Putting People First (ref.1.) is a cross government agreement to promote the 
development of a personalised adult social care system. This means services 
giving consideration to individual needs, with a greater focus on prevention in 
order to promote independence and wellbeing. The personalisation of social 
care services aims to ensure that local agencies work together, with a 
strategic shift towards early intervention and preventative approaches. The 
aim is that people have increased choice and control about the way their 
support is provided, and that early interventions will promote independence 
rather than involvement happening only at the point of crisis.  
 

Safeguarding adults is also a key area of work. The Department of Health 
launched a consultation on how to improve safeguarding policy,  the protection 
of vulnerable adults, and address abuse in all its forms in the care system in 
October 2008 (ref.2.). The 'No Secrets' guidance requiring local authorities, the 
police and the NHS to work together to protect adults is already in place. The 
Government now wants to make sure it keeps up with changes in the social 
care system, with the new emphasis on choice and control and changing 
forms of abuse.  
 

There is a need to ensure carers are aware of changing practice and 
legislation that affects them, including the Mental Capacity Act (ref.3.) This 
concerns people who lack mental capacity and those who take decisions on 
their behalf, and it is therefore important that carers are aware and able to take 
appropriate action concerning the person they care for.  
 
  
NHS reforms 
 

Lord Darzi was asked by the Prime Minister and Secretary of State for Health 
to lead the NHS Next Stage Review in July 2007.  His interim report in October 
2008 (ref.4.) sets out a vision for a world class NHS that is fair, personal, 
effective and safe. The Review has been led locally by clinicians in each NHS 
region.  Seventy-four local clinical working groups, made up of some 2000 
clinicians, have been looking at the clinical evidence and engaging with their 
local communities.  They have developed improved models of care for their 
regions to ensure that the NHS is up to date with the latest clinical 
developments and is able to meet changing needs and expectations. 

Page 29



Annex A 

 10

 
In May and June 2008, England's Strategic Health Authorities published a 
series of reports describing their locally-developed visions for improving health 
and healthcare over the next decade (ref.5.).  
 
 

Services for children 
 

Every Child Matters: Change for Children (ref.6.) is a new approach to the well-
being of children and young people from birth to age 19. The Government's 
aim is for every child, whatever their background or their circumstances, to 
have the support they need to: 

 

• Be healthy; 
• Stay safe; 
• Enjoy and achieve; 
• Make a positive contribution; 
• Achieve economic well-being. 
 

This means that the organisations involved with providing services to children, 
from hospitals and schools, to police and voluntary groups, will be teaming up 
in new ways, sharing information and working together, to protect children and 
young people from harm and help them achieve what they want in life. 
Children and young people will have far more say about issues that affect 
them as individuals and collectively. 
 

Every Disabled Child Matters is a national campaign by four leading 
organisations working with disabled children and their families: Contact a 
Family, Council for Disabled Children (CDC), Mencap, and the Special 
Educational Consortium (SEC).  The campaign aims to challenge politicians 
and policy-makers to make good on the Government’s commitment that every 
child matters, and ensure that disabled children matter as much as other 
children (ref. 7). 
 
 

The National Carers Strategy 2008 
 

Carers at the heart of 21st century families and communities 
“A caring system on your side. A life of your own”. 
HM Government, June 2008 (ref.8.) 
 

The new national carers strategy is linked to the policy strands and 
programmes of reform set out above and recognises the increasingly 
important role that carers play in society, acknowledging that carers need 
more help and support than has been available in the past. 
 

Page 30



Annex A 

 11

Since the first Carers Act in 1995, and the Carers Strategy 1999, these and 
subsequent  pieces of legislation have established a number of rights and 
services for carers (see Appendix 1). 
 

The new national strategy for carers, which replaces that of 1999, alongside 
the programme of social care and health reforms, recognises changes in 
society detailed in chapter 3. 
 

Key messages from the National Carers Strategy 
 

Vision and ten year programme of commitments. 
 

The Strategy gives a framework for a ten-year programme and a vision for 
what the government wants to see in place for carers by 2018: 
 

..carers will be recognised and valued as being fundamental to strong 
families and stable communities. Support will be tailored to meet the 
individuals’ needs enabling carers to maintain a balance between 
their caring responsibilities and a life outside caring, whilst enabling 
the person they support to be a full and equal citizen. 

 

New national proposal re-definition of carer. 
 

The National Strategy proposed a new definition of ‘carer’ and the intention to 
carry out a review and impact assessment of the definition to see if it could be 
adopted across government. This new definition has not yet been adopted or 
agreed. It is as follows:  
 

A carer spends a significant proportion of their life providing unpaid 
support to family or potentially friends. This could be caring for a 
relative, partner or friend who is ill, frail, disabled or has a mental 
health or substance misuse problem. 

 

Local definition of carer 
 

York Carers Strategy Group currently works to the following definition of carer, 
and will continue to do so until any further information about the national 
definition is published: 

 

A carer is someone who, unpaid, is looking after a relative, friend or 
neighbour, who is ill, disabled, frail or in need of emotional support. 
Carers can be under age 18, when they are referred to as ‘Young 
Carers’.  

 

Outcomes for carers by 2018 
 

The strategy outlines key ‘short-term’ commitments for 2009-2011 and 
indications of longer term plans. These are laid out according to five 
outcomes: 

Page 31



Annex A 

 12

 

1. Carers will be respected as expert care partners and will have 
access to the integrated and personalised services they need to 
support them in their caring role. 
 

Short term commitments: 
 

• National carers’ information helpline and website; 
• Funding to provide easy access to local information; 
• Training programme for carers ‘Caring with Confidence’; 
• Pilots to look at how the NHS can better support carers; 
• Training and awareness raising for key professionals. 

 

2. Carers will be able to have a life of their own alongside their caring 
role. 

 

Short term commitments: 
 

• Increased funding for breaks for carers (PCT’s to receive first 
part of monies in April 2009); 

• Pilots to assess quality and cost-effectiveness of breaks; 
• Sharing best practice across councils. 

 

3. Carers will be supported so that they are not forced into financial 
hardship by their caring role. 

 

Short term commitments: 
 

• Review flexible working practices; 
• Awareness raising campaign for employers and carers about 

flexible working; 
• A good practice guide for employers around supporting carers; 
• Improving the support offered to carers by Jobcentre Plus; 
• Ensuring skills training is provided in a flexible manner. 

 

4. Carers will be supported to stay mentally and physically well and 
treated with dignity. 

 

Short term commitments: 
 

• Piloting annual health checks for carers; 
• GP training pilots; 
• Improving emotional support for carers. 

 

5. Children and young people will be protected from inappropriate 
caring and have the support they need to learn, develop, and thrive, 
to enjoy positive childhoods and to achieve against all the Every 
Child Matters outcomes. 

Page 32



Annex A 

 13

 

Short term commitments: 
 

• More support for schools; 
• Awareness raising on caring and the issues it raises across 

children’s settings more generally; 
• Training materials for health professionals; 
• Preventing children from falling into inappropriate caring. Action 

to help build better, more preventative support; 
• Action to ensure better joined-up support around the family; 
• Training for staff in local services on whole family working. 

 

“The strategy recognises that improving the support for the 
person being cared for is vital to improve the life of the carer”. 
 

 
 
References 
 
1. Putting people first: a shared vision and commitment to the transformation 
of adult social care.10 December 2007. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_081118 
 
2. Review of the ‘No Secrets’ guidance, October 2008. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Lettersandcirculars/Dearcoll
eagueletters/DH_089375 
 
3 The Mental Capacity Act 2005. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_085476 
 
4. High quality care for all: NHS Next Stage Review final report,Lord Darzi, 
June 2008. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_085825 
 
5. See details on local visions for Strategic Health Authorities at 
http://www.ournhs.nhs.uk/ 
 
6. Every Child Matters: Change for Children, November 
2004.http://www.everychildmatters.gov.uk/ 
 
7. Every Disabled Child Matters  http://www.edcm.org.uk 
General enquiries:Email: info@edcm.org.uk 
Phone: 020 7843 6082 

Page 33



Annex A 

 14

 
8. Carers at the heart of 21st- century families and communities. “A caring 
system on your side. A life of your own.”  HM Government, June 2008. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_085345 (Full document and summary available) 

Page 34



Annex A 

 15

Chapter 3 Carers in York 
 

The National Strategy summarises the issues facing us in local areas, in 
enabling effective support  to be made available to unpaid carers in the 21st 
century in the face of a changing society. People are living longer, and many 
aspire to maintain independence and control. Many people balance work, 
childcare and care of a relative or friend. Families members  may live at a 
distance from relatives and struggle to maintain a healthy work-life balance.   
(ref.1.) 
 

Research shows that at some point in our lives, caring for others is going to 
happen to most of us. Carers are not a homogenous group, and the 
experience of caring varies dependent on lots of factors. The circumstances of 
the person cared for and those of the carer can both affect the caring role. 
There are some carers who are more likely to be ‘hidden’ or ‘hard to reach’, for 
example carers caring for those with a drug or alcohol problem, carers who 
have a learning disability, or lesbian and gay carers.  Some carers, for 
example those caring for people with dementia, may have the need for 
specialist help and information. There are a proportion of people who care for 
more than one family member, such as family carers who may be caring for a 
child or adult with a disability and an older relative. 
 

Many people do not identify with the term ‘carer’. The caring role is often 
something that becomes part and parcel of the relationship a carer has with 
the cared for person, as a friend, partner or relative.  
 

Over 3 million people combine work and care, and carers are found across all 
sectors of society, and in all sections of the workforce. Combining work and 
caring is most likely to happen in people’s 40s and 50s but can increasingly 
arise at any age, and working carers are often less well qualified than other 
employees (ref.2.). 
 

The proportion of people aged 65 and over is projected to increase from 16 
per cent in 2006 to 22 per cent by 2031. As a result, demographic support 
ratios will fall. In 2006, there were 3.3 people of working age for every person 
of state pension age. This ratio is projected to fall to 2.9 by 2031, taking into 
account the future changes to state pension (ref.3.). There will be an increase in 
the numbers of people living longer with complex conditions, and the numbers 
of people with dementia, which includes people with learning disabilities who 
can experience early onset dementia. 
 

There are over 1.5 million people in the UK aged 60 years and over, providing 
unpaid care. The general household survey (1995) shows that one in eight 
adults provides informal care, and one in six households contain a carer. The 
peak age for caring is 45 – 64 years of age. A fifth of adults in this age group 
were providing unpaid care. 

Page 35



Annex A 

 16

Information about the numbers and needs of carers locally is based on the 
2001 census. 
 

The 2001 census (ref.4.) results for York show: 
 
 Total 

population 
Provision of 
unpaid care: 

Total 

Provision of 
unpaid care: 
1-19 hours 

Provision of 
unpaid care: 
20-49 hours 

Provision of 
unpaid care: 
50+ hours 

City of 
York 

181,094 17,009 
(9.4% of 
population) 

12,478 
(73% of 
carers) 

1,520 
(9% of 
carers) 

3,011 
(18% of 
carers) 

All of 
England
/ Wales 

52,041,916 5,217,805 
(10.02% of 
population) 

3,555,822 
(68% of 
carers) 

573,647 
(11% of 
carers) 

1,099,336 
(21% of 
carers) 

 

The census also records a figure of 342 young carers aged 8 – 17 years of 
age in York.  Young adult carers aged 16 – 24 years make up 5.3% of that age 
group in the population (ref.5.) 
 

York Carers Centre has 1,343 adult carers registered on its database and 56 
young carers aged 8 - 18 years old are known to the service (July 2008). 
Within the City 1180 carers were identified who were providing substantial and 
regular care in 2006/07(ref.6.). The Centre undertakes specific work with  young 
adult carers aged 18 – 25 years, who can no longer access the Young Carers 
Service and need support targeted to their age group.  
 

It is clear from these figures that there are many carers in York who may not 
have access to information, support and services. Carers are not a static 
population and it is estimated that 2 million people across the country take on 
caring responsibilities for the first time every year. We need to ensure we 
continue to work to identify carers who are new to the role. 
 
There is a predicted rise of 31% in the population in York who will be aged 
over 65, in the fifteen years up to 2021 and a prediction of an additional 700 
more people affected by dementia. More work is required to identify and 
assess carers at the right time and there is a need to increase and target 
resources to support carers, especially those caring for older people with 
dementia (ref.7.). Projections about unpaid carers estimate a rise in numbers 
from 3,600 unpaid carers aged over 65 in York in 2008, to 4,729 in 2025 (ref.8.). 
 

The analysis of census information shows that carers who provide high levels 
of care for sick or disabled relatives and friends, unpaid, are more than twice 
as likely to suffer from poor health compared to people without caring 
responsibilities. In addition nearly 21% of carers providing over 50 hours of 
care say they are in poor health compared to nearly 11% of the non-carer 
population (ref.9.). 

Page 36



Annex A 

 17

The implications are that work is required locally to: 
 

• identify hidden carers; 
• continue to work actively with young carers, and young adult carers; 
• support carers to stay healthy; 
• plan provision for those with specific needs e.g. carers from BME 

communities, and carers of people with alcohol and substance misuse 
problems (ref.10.); 

• respond to the needs of an ageing population; 
• support the increased numbers of carers of people with dementia; 
• support carers in paid employment. 

 

References 
1. Carers at the heart of 21st- century families and communities. “ A caring 
system on your side. A life of your own.”  HM Government, June 2008. 
Summary document, p 5. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_085345 
 

2. Who Cares Wins: Executive Summary. The University of Sheffield Hallam’s 
Social Inclusion Centre. Sue Yeandle, Cinnamon Bennett, Lisa Buckner, Lucy 
Shipton, Anu Suokas 2006. 
http://www.carersuk.org/Policyandpractice/Research/Employmentandcaring/12
01869157 
 

3. Office of National Statistics. 
http://www.statistics.gov.uk/cci/nugget.asp?id=1352 
 

4. Office of National Statistics. 
 
5. Young Adult Carers in the UK  - Experiences, Needs and Services for 
Carers aged 16 – 24. Fiona and Saul Becker. December 2008. Princess Royal 
Trust for Carers 
 

6. www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/social-care 
 

7. City of York commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006 – 2021, January 
2007. 
 

8. POPPI (Projecting Older People Population Information System). 
 

9.http://www.carersuk.org/Policyandpractice/Research/Healthimpactofcaring/1
201185222 
10. National Treatment Agency for Substance Misuse, Supporting and 
involving carers. September 2008.  
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/areas/users_and_carers/supporting_and_involving_care
rs.aspx 

Page 37



Annex A 

 18

Chapter 4 Local planning and priorities 
 

Local Area Agreement 
Local Area Agreements (LAA’s) set out the priorities for a local area agreed 
between central government and the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP). York’s 
LSP is the ‘Without Walls’ partnership which involves the local authority, 
alongside public, private, voluntary and community sector representatives 
(ref.1.).  
 

A local authority’s performance is measured by ‘indicators’ and a new reduced 
set of indicators has been introduced in 2008. As part of this, each authority 
highlights a number of key indicators and targets. In York, the indicator 
concerning carers has been chosen as one of the 35 target areas. The 
indicator NP 135 records: 
 

‘The number of carers whose needs were assessed or reviewed by 
the council in a year who received a specific carer’s service, or 
advice and information in the same year as a percentage of people 
receiving a community based service in the year.’ 

 

 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment York 2008 
This document is produced by NYYPCT and CYC as a short summary of the 
planning commissioning and development of services to improve health and 
wellbeing across the City of York area. The  recommendation about carers is : 
 

‘ Provide information and services that support carers throughout 
  the city. Monitor CYC supported carers through the 
  Local Area Agreement.’  (ref.2.) 
 

The National Carers Strategy states that £150 million is available nationally in 
2009 – 11 for carers breaks and will be allocated to PCTs, who will be required 
to work with local partners and publish joint plans as part of the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment. (ref 3)  
 
 

Services for adults 
There are a number of strategies and service plans in York concerning 
services for adults. This includes a long term commissioning strategy for older 
people, a newly developed strategy to develop services to support people with 
physical and/or sensory impairment, a joint commissioning strategy for people 
with mental health problems and  a strategy for adults with learning disabilities.  
These are detailed in Appendix 2. 
 

In line with the Putting People First agenda, work is under way to develop 
early intervention services, with a joint commissioning project set up regarding 
older people's services, between CYC’s Housing and Adult Social Services 

Page 38



Annex A 

 19

and NYYPCT. The Council is to develop the Self Directed Support model for 
all customer groups. Carers are recognised as being fundamental to both of 
these pieces of work and will be involved and consulted as the work 
progresses. 
 

CYC and NYYPCT are committed to improving the integration of services 
within York and so are working to develop joint commissioning arrangements 
and to integrate service provision.  
 

Safeguarding adults is a key area of work. Following the CSCI inspection of 
CYC’s older people’s services in June 2008, which identified the need to 
ensure good practice is achieved consistently, CYC has set up a new multi-
agency safeguarding Adults Board for York (the former board also covered 
North Yorkshire) and established three additional posts to manage and carry 
out casework. 
 
Work to plan the development of a Centre for Independent Living is underway 
in York, coordinated by York CVS. Carers will be involved in this development. 
 

 
Long Term Conditions 
There are 15.4 million people with a long term condition in England (ref.4.). This 
includes people with a range of chronic conditions such as diabetes and heart 
disease, and other neurological conditions such as multiple sclerosis and 
schizophrenia. Numbers are expected to rise due to an ageing population and 
certain lifestyle choices that people make. NHS and social care services need 
to be prepared and responsive to meet the challenges that this may pose. To 
support this, the Department of Health has developed a strategy for improving 
care for people with long term conditions, which will inform local planning to 
respond to the needs of people with long term conditions. 
 

 
Voluntary organisations and community support 
York Council for Voluntary Services (YCVS) offers support to voluntary and 
community organisations, and is an active partner in ‘Without Walls’, York’s 
Local Strategic Partnership. YCVS also supports a number of Voluntary Sector 
Forums, bringing together groups concerning mental health, learning disability, 
and families, children, and young people. Carers and ex-carers are active 
members of the community groups and Forums. There are a wide range of 
voluntary groups in York. Some provide services for carers commissioned 
through the Carers Grant or other funding: York and District MIND provides a 
counselling service for carers of people with mental health problems; York 
Alzheimer’s Society provides specialist courses for carers;  Age Concern York 
provides a sitting service called In Safe Hands; and York Branch of 
Crossroads provides a sitting and support service to many local carers. 
 

Page 39



Annex A 

 20

There are two carer led forums in the City. York Carers Forum is an umbrella 
group for all carers, and CANDI – Children and Inclusion is for parent carers. 
These groups are both involved in ensuring the voice of carers is heard in 
local planning processes that affect services and support to both carer and 
cared for adults and children in York. It is hoped that a Young Carers Forum 
can be established in the near future. 
 
 

Services for Children 
Both the government’s Children’s Plan and City of York’s local Children and 
Young People’s Plan (ref.5.) emphasise that “it is the aim to make this the best 
place in the world for our children and young people to grow up”.   
 
This aim is most pertinent for young carers who have a caring role with a 
parent or relative with additional support needs due to health difficulties or 
disability. Services in the City of York‘s children’s trust arrangements adopt a 
whole family approach. This means that children’s and adult services must 
have arrangements in place to ensure that no young person’s life is 
unnecessarily restricted because they are providing significant care to an adult 
with an identifiable community care need. 
 
The children’s trust commissioning arrangements concentrate action on the 
early identification of  and early intervention with children and families in need. 
This will be achieved by greater promotion of the existence and needs of 
young carers to professionals in wider children’s services.  
 
There will closer collaborative work between the York Carers Centre, 
Children’s social care and Adult social care to ensure that all young carers are 
identified, assessed, supported and ultimately that they are not restricted 
unnecessarily from leading fulfilling lives as children and young people by their 
caring role. 
 
Parent carers in families with disabled children tell services that their number 
one priority is regular and reliable short breaks from caring. 
 
In January this year the Government announced the allocation of a total 
funding package worth £370m for 2009 -11 for short breaks. This comprises 
£280 million in revenue funding, along with £90 million in capital funding. 
 
City of York and NHS North Yorkshire and York receives significant grants to 
enable a transformation in the provision of short breaks in the next two years. 
 
The range of short breaks will be designed to respond to the changing phases 
and needs of family life, to ensure families feel included and to make a positive 
difference to their lives. 

Page 40



Annex A 

 21

 
Summary 
The important role of unpaid carers in supporting children and adults with 
health and social care needs is acknowledged in local planning documents  
and processes. Carers are currently active in planning forums, following the 
setting up of two new carer led forums in 2008. There is evidence that carer 
awareness is growing within health and social care settings. It is hoped that 
this work can continue, including increased corporate awareness raising within 
City of York Council, the impact of a more accessible Carers Centre, and 
planned improvements in the way basic information for carers and about 
carers is provided within the City. 
 

City of York Council’s refreshed corporate objectives have highlighted as 
priorities both the changing demographics of the city with the ageing 
population, and the importance of supporting unpaid carers to help friends, 
neighbours and family to retain independence and lifestyles of their choice. 
 
 
 

 
References 
 

1. Information on ‘Without Walls’ is available on the CYC website: 
http://www.york.gov.uk/council/Performance/Council_Plan/Community_strateg
y/Without/ 
 

2. York Joint Strategic Needs Assessment :  
www.nyypct.nhs.uk/AboutUs/PublicBoardMeetings/2008Sep16/Item10Y1York
%20JNSA.pdf  
· Cached page  
· PDF file 
 
3. Carers at the heart of 21st- century families and communities. “ A caring 
system on your side. A life of your own.”  HM Government, June 2008. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_085345 
 
 
4. Long term conditions compendium of information, Department of Health, 
January 2008. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_082069 
 
 
5. Children and Young People’s Plan 2007 - 2010 
http://www.york.gov.uk/education/Schools_and_colleges/School_-
_general_information/Childrens_and_young_people_plan/217358/ 

Page 41



Annex A 

 22

Chapter 5 How are we doing? 
 

The York Carers Strategy Group agreed an Action Plan for 2006 – 2008 to 
ensure everybody worked to provide good services and support to unpaid 
carers in the City of York. The Action Plan ended in March 2008, and is 
reviewed below. 
 

Achievements 
A key aspect of the work during the two year period 2006 - 2008 has been 
joint working at many levels, between social care, health, and voluntary sector 
organisations to achieve service developments, organise events, produce 
information, and plan the way forward for support and services for carers in 
York. The Primary Care Resource pack and the Self-Health Checklist were 
successfully produced by the Carers Information and Identification Group and 
the Carers Health Steering Group,  as a result of joint working between health, 
social care, and voluntary sector organisations, alongside consultation with 
carers. The main event during Carers Week 2008 was jointly organised by a 
group from a range of health, social care, and voluntary sector organisations. 
The Carers Emergency Card Scheme pilot was successfully launched in May 
2008 as a partnership between York Carers Centre and City of York Council. 
 
The Young Carers Service at the Carers Centre has continued its successful 
work to support young carers aged 8 – 18 years, and provide support to young 
adult carers aged 18 – 25 years. An excellent presentation was made by the 
Service at the launch of the Primary Carer Resource Pack on Carers Rights 
Day in December 2007, which received much positive comment. 
 
A forum for workers across agencies who specialise or are interested in work 
with carers first met in 2008. 
 

Carer involvement has developed with two new carers forums being 
constituted and launched in the City during 2008. 
 

The Flexible Carer Support Scheme has provided a direct payment and 
flexible breaks to carers with 405 successful applications approved by the 
scheme during the period April 2006 – September 2008. Three part-time 
permanent Carer Support Worker posts have been established in CYC’s three 
locality Assessment and Purchasing Teams. 
 

The Review of Services for Carers in York involved wide consultation with 
carers, and plans are currently underway to re-provision the Carers Centre in 
York. 
 

The following information summarises the progress made to implement the 
2006 – 2008 Action Plan: 
 

 

Page 42



Annex A 

 23

INFORMATION 
• The production of the Primary Care Resource pack for GP surgeries 

launched in December 2007.  
• Awareness raising and training sessions. 
 

IDENTIFICATION 
• The new York Carers Centre database is in the planning stage, and 

should be up and running in 2009. 
• Joint planning of Carers Week events 2008. 

 

ASSESSING CARERS NEEDS 
• Permanent Carers Support Worker posts in the three CYC adult 

services teams, and a specialist care manager in the Learning 
Disability services. 

 

A VOICE 
• Consultation with carers (245 completed questionnaires, and 43 took 

part in meetings) was a key part of the review of carers services in 
York in 2007. 

• A newly constituted York Carers Forum was established by carers in 
June 2008. 

• A parent carers forum CANDI (Children and Inclusion) was launched in 
June 2008. 

• Carers contributed directly to the CSCI Inspection of older people’s 
services at CYC in June 2008, and presented information to the 
Annual Review Meeting with CSCI in June 2008. 

 

CARERS SUPPORT AND SERVICES 
• * The Flexible Carer Support scheme has successfully provided direct 

payments and flexible breaks, to adult carers of adults, over the past 
two years.  

• Carers Emergency Card scheme launched in May 2008 as a 
partnership between York Carers Centre and City of York Council’s 
Warden Call service. 

• A range of commissioned services in the City: York and District 
MIND’s Carers Counselling Service; Age Concern’s In Safe Hands 
paid worker scheme; York Alzheimers Society, Caring and Coping 
courses. 

 

• * The need to promote short-term home based respite support 
(through maximising the impact of the carers grant). Funding of the 
carers grant was reviewed and an allocation made to include overnight 
support at home.  

 

• * Promotion of carers health and well-being: the Self Health checklist 
for carers was produced and launched in June 2008. 

Page 43



Annex A 

 24

 
TRAINING AND SKILLS TO CARE AND LIFELONG LEARNING 

• The Carers Employment and Lifelong Learning (CELL) scheme was 
established in September 2005 and has been accessed by 157 carers 
up until April 2008. 

 

* Identified as a priority 
 
FINANCIAL SECURITY AND EMPLOYMENT 

• Key workers informed about CELL. 
 

EQUITY OF ACCESS 
• A draft protocol re young carers and assessment processes has been 

drawn up. 
 

GOOD QUALITY MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
• Social electronic record system – Frameworki in place in CYC 
 

STRATEGIC SUPPORT 
• Permanent full-time Carers Strategy Manager and Carers Strategy 

Administrator full-time posts established. 
 

Areas for improvement 
Consultation with carers and professionals clearly shows that whilst a wide 
variety of information for carers is available, there is not consistent provision of 
accurate and accessible information for carers at the time it is needed. The 
new York Carers Centre will have a key role in improving information provision 
for carers, including proactive work to identify carers, and ensure its work is 
actively publicised in the local media. A greater awareness of the needs of 
carers is needed amongst professionals, and culture change is required to 
recognise carers as expert care partners, and ensure more integrated working 
between and within organisations. Continued work to support carer 
involvement and recognition is required. 
 
A number of pieces of work to improve information for carers have not been 
completed, or have had limited impact. Work to produce an easy read Carers 
Assessment of Need leaflet failed due to key staff leaving posts and a lack of 
coordination and clear communication. Systems to distribute and update 
leaflets have been absent or ineffective, and work to update the Carers Centre 
database and establish a website have been delayed due to the service being 
reorganised.  
 

It is a recognised fact that carers will often be in touch with Primary Care 
services, especially GP surgeries. There has been some work in York to 
encourage carer identification within Primary Care e.g. the Carers Centre 
informs GP practices of carers registered on the Centre’s database and a new 
Primary Care Resource pack was produced and distributed to GP surgeries in 

Page 44



Annex A 

 25

December 2007. However more work is required to increase carer awareness 
and carer identification in health settings and particularly within Primary Care. 
This also links to work required to ensure carers are supported to maintain 
their own health and well-being.  
 

There has been some improvement in ensuring Carers Assessments of Need 
are undertaken more efficiently by City of York Council, however further work 
is needed to resolve problems in ensuring good quality management 
information is available. In addition, work is required to establish an integrated 
approach to carer identification, assessment and provision of services and 
support between health, social care and voluntary sector organisations. The 
continued development and promotion of the Carers Emergency Card will 
enable more joint working, and provide the opportunity for access to Telecare 
to be promoted alongside the Card. 
 

Breaks for carers, both planned and unplanned are important and greatly 
valued. A review of the type of breaks, accessibility and availability is needed 
to ensure they are personalised and flexible to meet the carers needs.  
 

The Carers Strategy in York includes children as well as adults, and continued 
work is required to build and consolidate good working relationships between 
Children’s and Adult services to ensure the needs of parent carers and young 
carers are met. 
 
 

There are areas of the Action Plan where progress has been limited: 
 

• Work to identify BME carers and plan inclusion in provision; 
• Developing leaflets in accessible formats; 
• The provision of training for carers; 
• Implementing protocols for joint working between Children’s and Adults 

services re carers assessments. 
 
The following information summarises outstanding work from the 2006 – 
2008 Action Plan: 
 

INFORMATION 
• Provision of easily accessible information and signposting for carers. 

 

IDENTIFICATION 
• Identification of hidden carers particularly in Primary Care settings. 
• Setting up Young Carers task group. 
• Provide multi-agency carer awareness training. 
 

ASSESSING CARERS NEEDS 
• Increase numbers of carers being offered and receiving 

assessments, review and revise methods of assessment in light of 

Page 45



Annex A 

 26

personalisation agenda. 
• Ensure system for collection of management information for 

performance indicator about carers (NP135) is efficient and regularly 
reviewed and updated. 

 

A VOICE 
• Ensure carer involvement continues to be supported and resourced. 

 

CARERS SUPPORT AND SERVICES 
• Continue to review availability of counselling to carers. 
• Breaks for carers: increase the availability and flexibility of breaks for 

carers. 
 

TRAINING AND SKILLS TO CARE AND LIFELONG LEARNING 
• Provision of training to carers and ‘Expert Carer Programme’ now 

renamed ‘Caring with Confidence’, and if/how this national project will 
be implemented in York. 

 

FINANCIAL SECURITY AND EMPLOYMENT 
• Review CYC and NYYPCT work-life balance policies. 

 
EQUITY OF ACCESS 

• Putting draft protocol re young carers and assessment into practice. 
• Development of Carers Assessment of Need leaflet in accessible 

format. 
 

• * Actions to ensure inclusion of carers from BME communities 
• Inclusion of parent carers: a plan for a joint strategic approach with 

Children’s Services needs to be established. 
 

GOOD QUALITY MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
• Revise processes for collection of data required for performance 

indicator NP135. 
 

* Identified as a priority 

Page 46



Annex A 

 27

Chapter 6 Key Priorities and Targets for  2009 – 2011 
 

Following a review of services for carers in York and Selby in summer 2007, 
requested by CYC and NYYPCT commissioners, a report was presented, 
which highlighted a number of priority areas for service development. The 
review included consultation with carers through a questionnaire sent to all 
carers in York who were known to the Carers Centre and a number of group 
meetings were held. Evidence from the review demonstrated the key finding 
that carers in York wanted easy access to coordinated services and support 
for themselves and the cared for person. 
 

The main outcome from the review was the agreement that the Carers Centre 
would no longer be hosted by the Primary Care Trust, and an independent 
local organisation would be set up to run the Centre. This organisation is 
currently being established. A new service specification for the York Carers 
Centre comprises a requirement for provision of an accessible local centre, 
offering advice and information, and includes work to develop a more 
integrated approach between service providers re local support for carers. 
 

The review highlighted key areas that need development including the 
following. The provision of information and signposting for carers needs to be 
improved; there needs to be increased carer identification in GPs surgeries 
and services need to be better coordinated. There was also a clear need 
identified to develop the support available to young carers in York and enable 
joint working to become a reality. 
 

This local review echoed the kinds of priorities that carers generally identify 
according to national research, and in combination with the priorities identified 
by the National Strategy, York Carers Strategy Group recommend the 
following key areas of work during 2009 – 2011: 
 

• INFORMATION – carers will have easy access to accurate 
information and advice. 
Improve information and signposting for carers in York to ensure it is  
accurate, widely available, and provided in accessible formats. It was 
recommended that York Carers Centre be the focal point for this service. 
Work to ensure this provision is put in place is one of the key priorities 
and underpins all work to support carers in York. 

 

• CARER INVOLVEMENT – carers will be involved in planning and 
monitoring the services they receive. 
Recognition of carers as expert care partners is a key outcome in the 
National Strategy. Work to encourage a culture change in the 
professional world is important in achieving this target. The Strategy 
Group is committed to the involvement of carers in the group, and in the 
work of implementing the Strategy, alongside ensuring local carers’ 

Page 47



Annex A 

 28

groups and forums are supported, and training for carers is made 
available. Work to involve young carers and set up a Young Carers 
Forum is required. 

 

• INTEGRATED SERVICES – closer joint working, culture change and 
awareness raising for professionals. 
Services and information need to be provided in a coordinated way 
within and across agencies.  Closer partnerships between health, social 
care and the third sector are needed. Awareness raising is required to 
increase the level of carer awareness amongst services and the wider 
community. This is a key area of work for the Strategy. 

 

• ACCESS TO SERVICES AND SUPPORT – easier access to leisure 
and other services 
Housing, transport and leisure services need to support carers’ needs. 
Proposals include setting up a discount scheme for carers, to enable 
them to access leisure and other services in York. 

 

• BREAKS – carers should have access to a range of flexible breaks. 
A review of breaks provision will take place to inform the most effective 
use of resources in the future. 

 

• FINANCIAL SUPPORT – carers should have access to accurate 
welfare benefits advice. 
Easily accessible and accurate welfare benefits advice needs to be 
widely available for the diverse range of carers in York. 

 

• EMPLOYMENT SUPPORT – ensure carers in paid employment are 
supported. 
Employment support will be focused on the requirements of carers who 
are in paid employment. 

 

• PRIMARY CARE - ensure carer identification and support 
increases. 
A key priority is the need to ensure work is undertaken to improve carers 
identification and signposting in primary care settings, including GPs 
surgeries. 

 

• YOUNG CARERS – will be protected from inappropriate caring and 
have the support they need 
This is another key priority area, with the commitment to enable a Young 
Carers Forum to be set up and to support schools in York to support 
young carers. 
 

• YOUNG ADULT CARERS   
Work is required to continue and extend the service provided by York 
Carers Centre to young adult carers. 

Page 48



Annex A 

 29

Chapter 7 Implementation 
 

The Role of the Carers Strategy  
The Carers Strategy Group has been in place in York for some years. It is a 
multi-agency group including carer members alongside professionals from City 
of York Council, the Primary Care Trust and voluntary sector organisations. 
The group agreed an Action Plan for 2006 – 2008 to ensure everybody worked 
to provide good services and support to unpaid carers in the City of York. The 
Action Plan ended in March 2008. 
 
This new Strategy sets priorities for work to improve services and support to 
carers in York in light of the new National Strategy for carers published by HM 
Government in June 2008. However, the implementation of the strategy will 
need to be looked at in the light of increasing pressures and a potential 
decrease in public sector spending. 
 
The Core Commissioning group and the Carers Strategy Group will work to 
ensure this local strategy is implemented, and make decisions about priority 
areas, and resource allocation. Member organisations represented on the 
Carers Strategy Group should agree to the implementation of the Strategy 
within their organisation, or group.  
 
 
Action Plans 
Detailed action plans will be developed according to the key priorities and 
targets listed on pages 30 – 34. It is not assumed that action will be achieved 
on every outcome listed, and priorities for action will be agreed by the Strategy 
Group.  Outcomes are based on the National Strategy and we will be working 
towards them during 2009 – 2011, not guaranteeing that they can be achieved 
by that date. 
 
Agencies and organisations in York 
All agencies and organisations in York are invited to circulate the Strategy to 
their members, staff, and boards. Managers should raise the profile and 
ensure all staff are aware of the needs of carers, and ensure carer awareness 
raising takes place. 
 
 

Page 49



Annex A 

 30

 

National Strategic Outcome One 
Carers will be respected as expert care partners and will have access to the integrated and personalised 
services they need to support them in their caring role. 
Action 
Plan 
Number  

Outcome Local priority 

1A Information: Carers will have easy access to accurate 
information and advice 
 

• Provision of easily accessible 
information and signposting 

1B Carer identification: Carers will be recognised and 
valued for their unique role in supporting the cared for 
person 
 

• Increase identification of carers in 
Primary Care (see 4C) 

1C Young Adult Carers: Carers will have easy access to 
accurate information and advice 
 

• Establishment of support for young 
adult carers aged 18 years + by York 
Carers Centre 

1D Integrated services: Services and information will be 
provided in a coordinated way across and within 
agencies 
 

• Closer joint working and partnerships 
between health, social care and the 
third sector 

• Awareness raising for professionals 
1E Personalised services: Carers will have access to a 

range of flexible services that meet their individual 
needs 
 

• Carer Assessment of Need 
• Common Assessment Framework 
• Personal budgets 

1F Carer involvement: Carers will be involved in planning 
and monitoring the services they receive 
 

• Training for carers – Living for 
Learning  

• Carer involvement 
 

 

P
age 50



Annex A 

 31

 

National Strategic Outcome Two 
Carers will be able to have a life of their own alongside their caring role 
Action 
Plan 
Number  

Outcome Local priority 

2A Break provision: Carers should have access to a 
range of flexible breaks 
 

• Joint plans with NYYPCT re new 
money for breaks 

• Review current breaks provision 
• Personal budgets to enable carers to 

take breaks 
2B Emergency Card Scheme: Carers should be better 

equipped to deal with a crisis and have peace of mind 
 

• Emergency Card Scheme 

2C Technology: Carers should have access to a range of 
services and support 

• Telecare 

2D Housing, Leisure and Transport: Carers should have 
access to a range of services and support 

• Discount card scheme 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 51



Annex A 

 32

National Strategic Outcome Three 
Carers will be financially supported so that they are not forced into financial hardship by their caring role 
Action 
Plan 
Number  

Outcome Local priority 

3A Income: Carers should have access to benefits advice • Welfare benefits advice 
 
 

3B Employment: Carers should have access to 
employment support and vocational training 
 

• Ensure carers in employment are 
supported 

• Encourage carer aware employment 
practice 

• Make local links with new ‘care 
partnership managers’ at Jobcentre 
Plus 

 

P
age 52



Annex A 

 33

 

National Strategic Outcome Four 
 
Carers will be supported to stay mentally and physically well and treated with dignity 
Action 
Plan 
Number  

Outcome Local priority 

4A Prevention: Carers should have access to appropriate 
medical advice, and support about their own health 
needs 
 

• Self-health checklist distribution and 
evaluation 

 

4B NHS: Carers needs should be addressed in hospital 
admission and discharge procedures 
 

 

4C Primary Care and GPs: Primary care professionals 
should identify carers ensuring appropriate support, 
signposting and referrals 

 

• Update GP resource pack 
• Develop work to improve carer 

identification and signposting in 
primary care settings 

 
4D Emotional Support: Carers should have support to 

maintain their well being and reduce stress 
 

 

P
age 53



Annex A 

 34

 

National Strategic Outcome Five 
 
Children and young people will be protected from inappropriate caring and have the support they need to 
learn, develop, and thrive, to enjoy positive childhoods and to achieve against all the Every Child Matters 
outcomes. 
 
(Every Child Matters outcomes: be healthy, stay safe, enjoy and achieve, make a positive contribution, achieve 
economic well-being) 

 
Action 
Plan 
Number  

Outcome Local priority 

5A Universal services: Children will have the support they 
need to learn, develop and thrive 

• Support schools in York to support young 
carers 

 
5B Targeted support for young carers: Young carers will 

be able to make a positive contribution and have their 
views respected 
 

• Set up a Young Carers Forum 

5C Whole family support: Children and young people will 
be protected from inappropriate caring 
 

 

 

P
age 54



Annex A 

 35

Glossary 
 

BME  Black and minority ethnic community. 
 

CANDI Children and  Inclusion:  local forum for parents of children with 
disabilities. (see ‘Useful Contacts’) 

 

CELL Carers Employment and Life Long Learning project run by Future  
Prospects in York. (see ‘Useful Contacts’) 

 
CQC Care Quality Commission: the independent regulator of health and 

social care in England. 
 

CSCI Commission for Social Care Inspection was the social care 
regulator prior to CQC. 

 

CSG Carers Strategy Group: multi-agency group of people working to 
implement  local action plans. 

 

CYC  City of York Council. (see ‘Useful Contacts’) 
 

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment: NYYPCT and CYC joint 
summary of the planning commissioning and development of 
services to improve health and wellbeing.  

 

LAA Local Area Agreement: the agreement between York’s Local 
Strategic Partnership and Central Government. 

 

LIAG Local Implementation Advisory Group: advisory group in Mental 
Health services with user and carer members. 

 

LIT Local Implementation Team: a multi-disciplinary group in Mental 
Health services who feed into the planning process and feedback 
advice from the LIAG to the Primary Care Trust. 

 

LSP Local Strategic Partnership: a local group, in York called ‘Without 
Walls’ who prepare a Community Strategy. 

 

NHS  National Health Service. 
 

NSF National Service Framework: a policy set by the National Health 
Service  in the United Kingdom to define standards of care for 
major medical issues. 

 

NYYC North Yorkshire County Council. 
 

NYYPCT North Yorkshire and York Primary Care Trust. Please note that 
this organisation is now re-named NHS – North Yorkshire and 
York (Though the old logo is still in place) 

 

Page 55



Annex A 

 36

PALS  Patient Advice and Liaison Services. (see ‘Useful Contacts’) 
 

PCT  Primary Care Trust. 
 

PRTC Princess Royal Trust for Carers. (see ‘Useful Contacts’) 
 

SHA  Strategic Health Authority 
 

Telecare Home safety and personal security system that enables people to 
live independently through a 24 hour BT telephone link and state 
of the art technology 

 

YCC York Carers Centre: local service provider specialising in provision 
of support to adult and young carers. (see ‘Useful Contacts’) 

 

YCF York Carers Forum: local carer led group offering support to carers 
and working to ensure the voice of carers is heard on local 
planning groups. 

 (see ‘Useful Contacts’) 
 

YCVS York Council for Voluntary Services. (see ‘Useful Contacts’) 

Page 56



Annex A 

 37

Appendix 1 National Drivers 
 
The Disabled Persons (Services, Consultation and Representation) Act 
1986 
During an assessment of a disabled person’s needs, consideration must be 
given to the ability of the carer to continue to care. 
 

The NHS and Community Care Act 1990 
This legislation requires that local authorities involve families and carers when 
making plans to assist adults who are vulnerable. 
 

The Carers (Recognition and Services) Act 1995 
Under this Act, if a person was being assessed under the 1990 Community 
Care Act, the carer could request an assessment of their need for support to 
continue caring; the results of such carer assessments are also to be taken 
into account when developing services for the customer.  
 

The Carers and Disabled Children Act 2000 
This entitles carers over the age of 16, including parents of disabled children a 
right to an assessment, irrespective of whether the person they support has 
been assessed or is receiving services. It also gives local authorities the 
power to provide services direct to the carer to meet their assessed needs and 
enables carers to apply for direct payments to meet their own needs. 
 

The Carers (Equal Opportunities) Act 2004 
Gave local authorities the following duties: 

• to inform carers of their right to an assessment; 
• to give consideration to the wishes of  a carer to work, to undertake 

education or training, or to engage in leisure activities. 
 

The Act also gave local authorities the right to ask assistance from other 
authorities in planning the provision of services to carers. 
 

The Mental Capacity Act 2005 
Concerns people who lack mental capacity and those who take decisions on 
their behalf.  It clarifies many aspects of common law in relation to capacity 
and consent. It provides a framework for people ages 16+ who may lack 
capacity to make decisions.  It makes clear who can take decisions and how 
they should go about this.  The Act replaces current statutory schemes for 
enduring Powers of Attorney and Court of Protection receivers with reformed 
and updated schemes.  
 

Our Health, Our Care, Our Say: A New Direction for Community Services, 
White Paper 2006 
This announced a ‘New Deal’ for carers including setting up a national 
helpline, training for carers, funding for emergency planning and the planned 
revision of the National Carers Strategy. 

Page 57



Annex A 

 38

The Work and Families Act 2006 
Carers have the right to request flexible working if they are the spouse, partner 
or relative of the cared for, or if they live in the same household. 
 

In addition the following relate to specific ‘customer’ groups: 
 

Mental Health National Service Framework 1999 
This National Service Framework for Mental Health spells out national 
standards for mental health, what they aim to achieve, how they should be 
developed and delivered, and how to measure performance in every part of 
the country. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_4006057 
 

Older People National Service Framework 2001 
The National Service Framework (NSF) for Older People was published in 
March 2001 as a ten-year programme and set new national standards and 
service models of care across health and social services for all older people, 
whether they live at home, in residential care or are being looked after in 
hospital. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/SocialCare/Deliveringadultsocialcare/Olderpeople/NS
FforOlderPeopleandsystemreform/index.htm 
 

Valuing people now: a new three-year strategy for people with learning 
disabilities 
This follows on from the white paper Valuing People (2001).  
Valuing people now sets out the Government's strategy for people with 
learning disabilities for the next three years following consultation. It also 
responds to the main recommendations in Healthcare for All, the independent 
inquiry into access to healthcare for people with learning disabilities. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_093377 
 
 

Every Child Matters 2003 
This Green Paper aimed to strengthen preventative services for children 
concentrating on four themes: 

• Increasing the focus on supporting families and carers - the most critical 
influence on children's lives; 

• Ensuring necessary intervention takes place before children reach crisis 
point and protecting children from falling through the net; 

• Addressing the underlying problems identified in the report into the death 
of Victoria Climbié - weak accountability and poor integration; 

• Ensuring that the people working with children are valued, rewarded and 
trained. 

 

http://www.everychildmatters.gov.uk/ 

Page 58



Annex A 

 39

Long Term Conditions National Service Framework 2005 
The NSF aims to transform the way health and social care services support 
people to live with long-term neurological conditions. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Healthcare/NationalServiceFrameworks/Long-
termNeurologicalConditionsNSF/index.htm 
 
 

End of Life Care Strategy - promoting high quality care for all adults at 
the end of life (2008) 
This is the first guidance of its sort published in England, and has been 
produced to enable choices for people re end of life care.  
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_086277 
 
 

The National Dementia Strategy 2009 
The Department of Health has developed a national strategy for dementia 
services which was published in February 2009. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPol
icyAndGuidance/DH_094058 

Page 59



Annex A 

 40

Appendix 2 Local Strategies and Service Plans 
 

Older People 
• Selby, York and Easingwold Older People’s Strategy (2005-2010) 

‘Never Too Old – A multi-agency older people’s strategy 2005 –2010’ 
includes the aim of wanting older people to have “Support for the role of 
their CARERS, including supporting older people who are carers 
themselves”. It highlights the need to support the health needs of carers. 

• City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006 – 2021 
This recognises that work is needed to ensure that carers needs are 
understood and met. The hypotheses in the report’s conclusion include: 
“An increase and targeting of resources and support to carers (especially 
those caring for older people with dementia) will contribute to 
maintaining someone in the community and minimise the risk of the 
carers ill health and in-ability to care”. 

 http://www.york.gov.uk/health/Services_for_older_people/ 
 

Mental Health Services  
• NYYPCT, CYC and NYCC Mental Health Commissioning Strategy - 

draft 
This outlines the National Service Framework for Mental Health and 
Standard Six, Caring about carers. Local commissioning intentions 
include carer recognition and support. 

• NYYPCT, Mental Health Services - draft July 2008, Providing 
services to people with mental health and associated problems. 

 

Adults with Physical and Sensory Impairment 
• City of York Council Strategy of the Development of Services to 

Support People with a Physical and/or Sensory Impairment   
This strategy has been developed during 2008. Desired outcomes for 
carers are identified as ‘Supported carers’ and ‘Prevention of Carer 
Breakdown’. 

 http://www.york.gov.uk/health/Disabilities/strategy/ 
 

Adults with Learning Disabilities 
• Selby, York and Easingwold – Commissioning Strategy Community 

Team for People with Learning Disability March 2008 
An ageing population of both customers and carers is identified as a 
future trend. The Partnership Board has identified “More involvement for 
families and customers” as one of its priority areas. 

• York Valuing People Partnership Board 
In response to the renewal of the government’s 2001 White Paper, 
‘Valuing People’, and the issue in draft of ‘Valuing People Now; From 
Progress to Transformation’, during 2008 the Board has been in the 
process of restructuring and renewing its aims and objectives. The 
Board actively includes family carers in its work. 

Page 60



Annex A 

 41

Appendix 3 Equality Impact Assessment 
 
Equalities Impact Assessment 
Toolkit for High Level Strategies 
 
This toolkit uses many of the questions from the Government Office’s toolkit 
for Local Area Agreements. It provides a basic set of challenging questions to 
assess the extent to which equality issues are considered and incorporated 
into high-level strategies (e.g. the LAA, Sustainable Community Strategy, 
Community Safety Strategy, Corporate Strategy etc.). Omit any questions that 
are not relevant to your strategy. 
 

The toolkit asks various questions and then gives you 2/3 possible answers 
(yes, no or some) and an explanation and evidence column to add: 
 

§ What evidence you have to support your answer (if in the positive) giving 
practical examples, or; 

§ If you have no evidence, why this is so and, what plans you have to 
rectify this. 

 
 
Name of Strategy Who is conducting this EIA? 
York Strategy for Carers Name: Frances Perry 

Job Title: Carers Strategy Manager 
Contact Details: Housing and Adult Social 
Services, 10/12 George Hudson Street, York 
YO1 6ZE 
Tel: 01904 554188 
Email frances.perry@york.gov.uk 

Describe the Strategy: 
What is the purpose of the strategy (describe in simple, easy to understand 
terms) 

• To make clear the priorities for support and services to carers in York 
• To ensure all carers and agencies are aware of the priorities 
• To enable all agencies involved in community and health care to 

effectively promote the health and well-being of carers 
 
 

Equality Aims in the Strategy 
 Yes No Explanation and Evidence 
Does the Strategy have 
an equalities statement 
(or vision / policy) that 
specifically mentions 
the 6 strands? 

Yes  The Strategy reflects the Carers 
National Strategy -Carers at the heart 
of 21stcentury families and 
communities, M Government, June 
2008.  

Page 61



Annex A 

 42

 
(Race, disability, 
gender, sexual 
orientation, religion and 
belief, and age) 
 

 
Chapter 2 outlines the National 
Strategic vision that by 2018 
“carers will be recognised and valued 
as being fundamental to strong 
families and stable communities. 
Support will be tailored to meet the 
individuals’ needs enabling carers to 
maintain a balance between their 
caring responsibilities and life outside 
caring, whilst enabling the person they 
support to be a full and equal citizen.” 

How did you decide 
what went into this 
statement? 

The statement is based on the vision from national 
documents 

Has it been agreed by 
all partners? 

 No This will be part of the process of 
partners agreeing and signing up to 
the strategy. 

What processes are in 
place to monitor 
progress on achieving 
this statement? 

The Carers Strategy Group is responsible to 
implement and monitor the progress of the work to 
put the Strategy in practice through agreed Action 
Plans. 

Whom will this be 
reported to? 
 

The Strategy Group is a multi-agency forum and 
members are responsible for reporting to/from their 
organisations and agencies. 

 
 

Development of the Strategy 
Has the Strategy 
considered: 

Yes No Explanation and Evidence 

The make up of the local 
population at the time of 
writing the strategy? 

Yes  Chapter 3 provides information 
available about the local carer 
population. 

Potential changes to the 
local population over the life 
of the Strategy? 
e.g. aging population (and 
therefore an increase in 
disabled people), increasing 
black and minority ethnic 
population etc. 

Yes  Chapter 3 provides a summary of 
the predicted changes to the local 
carer population. 

How information on different 
communities’ needs is 
collected and used by the 
council and partners. 

 No This will be developed further in 
the writing and implementation of 
the Action Plans. 

Page 62



Annex A 

 43

e.g. to: 
a) plan and 

manage services 
b) develop 

indicators/targets 
c) Monitor 

progress. 
Any limitations of current 
data and what will be done 
to address this? 
 

Yes  There has been limited progress in 
the past two years in identifying 
carers from BME communities. It 
is planned that the new database 
at York Carers Centre will improve 
this from April 2009. 
Work is required to improve joint 
collection and sharing of data 
between social care, health and 
voluntary sector organisations. 

 
 

Equality Legal Duties 
What actions are in the 
strategy to promote 
our legal duties to: 

Yes No Explanation and Evidence 

Eliminate discrimination 
and harassment on the 
grounds of race, 
disability, gender, age, 
sexual orientation, and 
religion and belief? 

Yes  This will be done by developing links 
with local organisations eg York 
Racial Equality Network. Work is 
underway to enable a Young Carers 
Forum to be set up. 

Promote equality of 
opportunity between 
Black and minority 
ethnic (BME) and white 
British people, disabled 
and non-disabled and 
men and women? 

Yes  All work with carers involved mixed 
groups including men and women and 
disabled and non-disabled people. 

Promote good relations 
between different ethnic 
groups (not just BME 
and white British people) 

 No   

Promote positive 
attitudes towards 
disabled people (and 
other communities) 

Yes  Carers include people with 
disabilities, and care for people with 
disabilities. Links will be made with 
proposed PSI partnership group, and 
work to set up a CIL locally. 

Page 63



Annex A 

 44

Promote participation by 
disabled people in public 
life? 

Yes  Carers with disabilities will be 
included in all the work of the Carers 
Strategy and its implementation. 

N.B.  These duties apply to everyone – private, public and voluntary and 
community sectors.  Therefore they apply to organisations providing services 
or goods on our behalf (and it’s our responsibility to make sure they are 
complying with equalities legislation in this capacity).  
 
 

Links from this Strategy to other Strategies or Policies / Working Practices 
 Yes No Explanation and Evidence 
Do any policies or other 
strategies need to be 
changed to reflect the 
objectives or actions in 
this strategy? 

 No  

Do any policies or other 
strategies that sit under 
this strategy need to be 
Equality Impact 
Assessed? 

 No  

Who will do this?  
 
 

Implementation 
 Yes No Some Explanation and Evidence 
Do staff / partners 
have the skills and 
capacity to achieve the 
equality aims and 
actions in this 
strategy? 

  Yes Awareness training courses 
may be required and additional 
resources to implement equality 
work amongst all staff and 
partners. 

If not, how is this being 
addressed? 

 

 
 

Involvement & Consultation 
 Yes No Explanation and Evidence 
What consultation 
mechanisms are in 
place to engage the 
views of communities 
on this strategy?  

The Strategy has been developed following wide 
consultation with carers in Summer 2007. The final 
draft of the Strategy will be distributed widely for 
consultation. 

Are consultation 
methods inclusive and 
accessible? 

Yes  Information is available in different 
formats. Work to involve carers 
includes working to make meetings 

Page 64



Annex A 

 45

 accessible. 
Have you actively 
sought the views of 
groups from the 6 
equality strands on this 
strategy? (either 
individuals or 
community or voluntary 
groups) 
 
If so, which groups? 

Yes  Unpaid carers encompass all 
communities. We need to undertake 
work to identify the numbers of carers 
from BME communities, and lesbian 
and gay carers,  and assess if their 
needs require special attention. There 
is also a need to engage with carers of 
people with substance misuse and 
alcohol problems. 

Are there arrangements 
in the Strategy for on-
going dialogue with 
groups from the 6 
equality strands?   
 

Yes  The Strategy will be implemented by 
groups involving carers and the carers 
forums in  York. There are 4 carer 
members on the Carers Strategy 
Group and plans to include young 
carers in the future. 

How are these views 
used in the Strategy 
decision-making 
processes? 

Through the Carers Strategy Group meetings. 

Will groups from the 6 
strands be involved in 
setting priorities or 
targets in the strategy 
and assessing progress 
on these? 

Yes  There is planned work to set up a 
Young Carers Forum. 
There is work to identify the ethnicity of 
carers and record information about 
the impairment/condition of the cared 
for person via the Carers Centre 
database. 

 
 

Communication 
 Explanation and Evidence 
How has the Strategy 
been communicated to 
partners and the public? 
  

It will be available, electronically, hard copy, on 
the web site and in alternative formats if required. 

 
 

Partnerships 
Has this strategy 
stimulated any specific 
areas for partnership 
development or 
improvement? 

Yes No Explanation and Evidence 

Community involvement? 
 

Yes  Involvement of newly developed 
carers forums, and renewing 

Page 65



Annex A 

 46

mechanisms for carer representatives 
to sit on the Carers Strategy Group. 
Work to set up a Young Carers 
Forum. 

Consultation 
mechanisms? 
 

Yes  Summary of the Carers Strategy in 
plain English on the CYC website. 
Ongoing carer involvement is part of 
the work of the Carers Strategy 
Group. 

Community cohesion and 
equality (e.g. fulfilling 
legislative duties)? 

Yes  By developing links with specialist 
groups – YREN, Mesmac. 

Assessment and analysis 
of specific community 
needs? 
 

Yes  The need to record ethnicity of carers 
and identify and meet needs of 
specific groups e.g. carers of people 
with substance misuse problems. 

Development or 
improvement of data and 
profiling of data? 
 

Yes  Yes – plan to work in partnership with 
York Carers Centre and health re 
collecting accurate information about 
numbers of carers in York. 

Monitoring and 
evaluation of the 
strategy? 
 

Yes  The Strategy Group will develop and 
monitor action plans for 
implementation of the Strategy 

Equalities Impact 
Assessments? 

Yes  Develop one re information work in 
2009. 

Priority setting? Yes  This is integral to the Strategy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



Annex A 

 47

Key Issues and Actions (this bit will be made public) 
 
Summarise the key equalities issues contained in this 
strategy? 
 
Unpaid carers can be viewed as an equality strand in their own right, and 
encompass people affected by issues relating to all the 6 equality strands. 
 
Identifying the numbers of, and potential need for specialist work  required with 
groups of carers from the 6 equality strands. 
 
Continuing work to involve carers from all communities and equality strands in 
the work of the Strategy. 
What are the key actions you are taking to address these 
issues? 
 
Continue to promote the raising of carer awareness amongst professionals and 
organisation locally, and improve carer identification. 
 
Ensure local databases record information about carer’s equality status, and 
workers identify carers needs appropriately. 
 
Continue to support the existing carers forums in the City and the development 
of new ones e.g. Young Carers Forum. 
 

Page 67



Annex A 

 48

 Appendix 4 Useful Contacts 
 

Local organisations 
 
Age Concern York -  provides personal and practical services for older 
people and their carers and works with statutory agencies to develop these 
services. 
Telephone 01904 627995  
www.ageconcernyork.org.uk  
 

CANDI – Children and Inclusion - is a forum for parents/carers of children 
with disabilities and/or additional needs from ages 0-19 yrs of age. We meet 
once a month and would welcome any new members to join us. The aim of the 
group is to work with the City of York Council and health professionals to 
influence decisions that can affect our children. These include swimming, gym 
clubs, horse riding etc. as well as family initiatives that include family meals, 
theatre trips, river boat trips etc. All new ideas and suggestions are very 
welcome. 
For further information contact Jo Whitehead, Project Officer on 
projectofficer@yorcandi.org.uk  
Telephone - 0775 1828369 
www.yorcandi.org.uk  
 
City of York Council will provide information and advice to local people on a 
range of housing and social care issues. Depending on your query please 
direct it to one of the following departments: 
 
Adults Social Services - 
Initial Assessment & Safeguarding Team 
Tel: 01904 555111 
Fax: 01904 554055 
e-mail: adult.socialsupport@york.gov.uk 
---------------------------------------------------- 
Children's Social Care -  
Referral & Assessment Team 
Tel: 01904 551900 
Fax: 01904 555602 
e-mail:  childrens.socialcare@york.gov.uk 
---------------------------------------------------- 
Housing Options 
Tel: 01904 554500 
Fax: 01904 554119 
e-mail: housing.options@york.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Page 68



Annex A 

 49

Crossroads – York Branch - Gives support in the home to the carers of 
children and adults with care needs. Free service to Carers following a full 
assessment by Social Services. (Self referrals can be made to Crossroads by 
Carers who are prepared and able to pay for the services). Telephone 01904 
790200 
 

Future Prospects -  Free learning and work advice centre, based at 24 
Swinegate, York. Drop in service, no appointment required. 
Telephone 01904 634748 or 0800 834239 
http://www.futureprospects.org.uk/ 
 
North Yorkshire and York Families and Carers Service – is a service for 
carers whose families have been affected by substance misuse. Whether you 
are a parent, child, grandparent, brother or extended family member, this 
service is for you. We offer a client centred service with individual support 
packages that enable the family to cope with the problems that arise from 
addiction.  
Telephone 0800 731 6338 or email northyorkfamilycare@btconnect.com  
 

PALS - Patient Advice and Liaison Service exists to listen to patients, relatives 
and carer’s comments, offer advice and information, and deal with any 
concerns about health care services. There are two local services one for 
issues relating to York Hospital, and one for Primary Care Services. 
PALS - York Hospitals Trust: Telephone 726262 or email pals@ýork.nhs.uk  
 

PALS – North Yorkshire and York Primary Care Trust: 
Tel: 0800 06 88 000 nyy-pct.pals@nhs.net  
 

York Alzheimer’s Society – Provide a range of information, advice and 
support including  an 8 week ‘Caring and Coping’ education course for carers 
of people with dementia. It includes a wide range of topics, for example, power 
of attorney, moving and handling, coping strategies. 
Tel:  Helpline 01904 658106 
Regional office  - 01904 633804 
Holgate Villa, 22 Holgate Road, York 
email: yorkbranch@alzheimers.org.uk  
 

York and District MIND – provide counselling, advocacy, support groups and 
information services.  MIND Carer Counselling Service  offers free counselling 
sessions to carers of people with mental health problems, including 
Alzheimer’s disease.  The carer must be aged 18+. The cared-for person must 
be aged up to 65. 
Telephone 01904 466690 www.yorkmind.org.uk  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



Annex A 

 50

York Carers Centre - offers an information and advice, signposting, group 
events, activities and training. The Carers Centre mailing list and registration is 
free of charge and ensures carers receive free copies of the quarterly 
newsletter, invitations to events, activities and other initiatives. 
York Carers Centre, Nursery Block, 17 Priory St, York YO1 6ET Tel: 01904 
715490   
www.yorkcarerscentre.co.uk or email enquiries@yorkcarerscentre.co.uk 
 

York Carers Forum - The Forum is a carer led group. All unpaid carers are 
invited to join the group as members, and are very welcome at the group’s 
regular meetings. In 2009 meetings will be held on the 4th Monday of the 
month, 1 – 3pm at City Mills, Skeldergate, York. 
Please contact Katie Smith on 01904 422437 yorkcarersforum@tiscali.co.uk 
 

Young Carers Service - part of York Carers Centre. Offers advice, 
information and support for young carers (aged 8 -18). 
York Carers Centre, Nursery Block, 17 Priory St, York YO1 6ET Tel: 01904 
715490 enquires@yorkcarerscentre.co.uk 
 

York Citizens Advice Bureau - Provides advice, information and advocacy 
on any matter, in particular benefits, debt, employment and housing. 
Appointment booking line: 01904 623550 
Recorded information and advice line – 0844 826 9705 
www.yorkcab.org.uk or email admin@yorkcab.org.uk  
 

York Council for Voluntary Service – YCVS offer advice, training, 
information and support to local voluntary organisations and community 
groups in order to help them work more effectively.     York CVS, 15 Priory 
Street, York  Telephone 01904 621133 yorkcvs@yorkcvs.org.uk 

Page 70



Annex A 

 51

 
National Organisations 

Carers UK 
Carers UK is the voice of carers, that recognises that as a consequence of 
caring, many carers can experience ill health, poverty and discrimination. 
Carers UK is an organisation of carers who campaign in order that people 
recognise the true value of carers’ contribution to society and carers get the 
practical, financial and emotional support they need. They provide advice and 
information about carers’ rights. 
Contact details: http://www.carersuk.org/Contactus  
Carersline: 0808 808 7777 or 020 7378 4999 
 

Carers Direct is a national advice line that offers free, confidential information 
and advice to help you as a carer. This includes information on money and 
legal issues, your wellbeing, as well as work and study options available to 
you.  

Telephone - 0808 802 0202  

www.nhs.uk/Carersdirect/ or email CarersDirect@nhschoices.nhs.uk  

 
The Princess Royal Trust for Carers 
The Princess Royal Trust for Carers was created on the initiative of HRH The 
Princess Royal in 1991. At that time people caring at home for family members 
or friends with disabilities and chronic illnesses were scarcely recognised as 
requiring support. The Princess Royal Trust for Carers is the largest provider 
of comprehensive carers support services in the UK. Through its unique 
network of 144 independently managed Carers' Centres, 85 young carers 
services and interactive websites. The Trust currently provides quality 
information, advice and support services to almost 354,000 carers, including 
over 20,000 young carers. 
 
In addition, The Trust also acts independently in the interests of carers through 
research, development and consultation; influence on national, regional and 
local policy; partnerships with other national organisations; information through 
our interactive websites; and providing advice and access to support groups. 
 
Contact details: 0844 800 4361 
www.carers.org 
www.youngcarers.net 
info@carers.org 
 
Crossroads – caring for carers 
A Crossroads service is about giving time - improving the lives of carers by 
giving them a break from their caring responsibilities. Our aim is to provide a 
reliable, tailored service, for each carer and the person they care for. We have 

Page 71



Annex A 

 52

140 schemes in England and Wales, which provide a range of services. Every 
scheme provides practical support where and when it is most needed - usually 
in the home. A trained Carer Support Worker will take over from the carer to 
give them 'time to be themselves'. We talk to the carers about how often they 
would like us to visit, how long the visit should be and at what time they would 
like our support provided. They then have 'time' to use as they wish - to see 
friends, keep appointments, study, read or even just to sleep. 
 
Contact details: 0845 450 0350 
www.crossroads.org.uk 
 
Caring with Confidence offers learning and development opportunities to 
carers aged 18 and over in England. Its aim is to help carers build on skills 
and knowledge, which carers can access through local group sessions or at 
home using workbooks or the internet. The Caring with Confidence 
programme is designed to fit around people’s lives and caring responsibilities. 
Carers can pick and choose how many sessions they attend, and how they get 
involved – from local group sessions to self-study workbooks and online 
sessions. 
 
Telephone 0800 849 2349 
Email: 
cwc.info@caringwithconfidence.net or visit www.caringwithconfidence.net 
 
Every Disabled Child Matters 
EDCM is a campaign by four leading organisations working with disabled 
children and their families – Contact a Family, Council for Disabled 
Children (CDC), Mencap and the Special Educational Consortium (SEC). We 
will challenge politicians and policy-makers to make good on the 
Government’s commitment that every child matters.  
EDCM is an inclusive campaign. We support and represent thousands of 
disabled children, young people and families. Through CDC and SEC, the 
campaign represents hundreds of organisations, professionals, and disabled 
people working with and for disabled children, young people and their families. 
EDCM is based at the Council for Disabled Children, which is hosted by the 
National Children’s Bureau. 
For general enquiries: www.edcm.org.uk  
Email: info@edcm.org.uk 
Phone: 020 7843 6082 
Postal address:  
Every Disabled Child Matters, c/o Council for Disabled Children, 8 Wakley 
Street, London, EC1V 7QE 
 

Page 72



Annex B 

   

York Carers Strategy- summary of progress 2009 - 2010 
National Strategic Outcome One 
Carers will be respected as expert care partners and will have access to the integrated and personalised services they need to support them in their caring role. 
 Outcome Local priority Target Actions 09/10 Date achieved in 09/10 Lead group/role 
1
A 

Information: Carers 
will have easy access 
to accurate information 
and advice 
 

Provision of easily accessible 
information and signposting 

• Evaluate/update Quick Guide and 
Carers Information Pack 

• A – Z of services for workers 
• Pocket guide produced 
• York Carers Centre becomes 

central resource for local 
information and signposting 

• Website development: CYC 
update;  set up YCC  

• April 2010 
 
• April 2010 
• June 2009 
• Work underway and 
ongoing 
 
• All websites set up and 
regularly updated 

 
 

Carers Information 
Group  

 
 

1
B 

Carer identification: 
Carers will be 
recognised and valued 
for their unique role in 
supporting the cared for 
person 
 

Increase identification of carers in 
Primary Care (see 4C) 

• York Carers Centre seeks 
external funding for specialist 
Health Worker 

• No action to date: 
reassess timescale 

Carers Health Steering 
Group/York Carers 
Centre 
 
See Action 4C – work 
carried forward to 2010-
12 Action Plan 

1
C 

Young Adult Carers: 
Carers will have easy 
access to accurate 
information and advice 
 

Establishment of support for young 
adult carers aged 18 years + by 
York Carers Centre 
 

• York Carers Centre provides 
support service linked to 
Education Employment and 
Training service 

• Support service set 
up: mainly group 
events. 36 people 
registered. 

York  Carers Centre 

1
D 

Integrated services: 
Services and 
information will be 
provided in an 
coordinated way across 
and within agencies 
 

Closer joint working and 
partnerships between health, social 
care and the third sector 

 
Awareness raising for professionals 
 

• Plan required for implementing 
closer partnerships in 2010/11 

 
 
 
 

• Joint CYC/YCC of carer 
awareness training.  

• Plan not yet drawn 
up. 

 
 
 
 

• Regionally funded 
training programme 
implemented Jan – 
June 2010 

Carers Strategy 
Manager 

P
age 73



Annex B 

   

1
E 

Personalised 
services: Carers will 
have access to a range 
of flexible services that 
meet their individual 
needs 
 

Carer Assessment of Need 
 
Common Assessment 
Framework 

 
Personalisation 

• Carer Assessment of Need 
• Common Assessment Framework 
• Personalisation 

 
 
 

 
 

• There has been a 
increase in the number of 
Carers Assessments 
offering flexible 
approaches to  carers 
breaks.  

 
• Carers will support the 

experts by Experience 
forum to help with  the 
ongoing learning of the 
introduction of 
Personalisation 

 
• Presentation to Carers 

Forum on Personalisation 
was well received 
 

City of York Council 
 

1
F 

Carer involvement: 
Carers will be involved 
in planning and 
monitoring the services 
they receive 
 

Carer involvement  
• Establish and support carers 

forums. 
 
 
 

• Review how groups are able to 
network and ensure carers voice 
is heard in local planning and 
monitoring. 

 
• York Carers Forum; 

CANDI already in place. 
Young Carers Revolution  
established in 09/10.   

 
• Review of carer 

involvement in 
planning/monitoring 
services not taken place. 

Carers Strategy 
Manager 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 74



Annex B 

   

 
 
National Strategic Outcome Two 
Carers will be able to have a life of their own alongside their caring role 
 Outcome Local priority Target 09/10 Date achieved Lead group/role 
2
A 

Break provision: 
Carers should have 
access to a range of 
flexible breaks 
 

Joint plans with NYYPCT re new 
money for breaks 
 
Review current breaks provision 

 
Personal budgets to enable carers 
to take breaks 

• Set up joint plans for new breaks 
money 

 
• Review current breaks provision 

funded by carers CYC 
 

• Flexible carer support scheme 
 
 

No new money available from 
NHS N Yorks and York. 
 
Report taken to CSG  June 
10 
 
600 Direct Payments to 
carers in 2009/10 to enable 
flexible breaks for carers 

Carers Strategy Manager 
 

2
B 

Emergency Card 
Scheme: Carers 
should be better 
equipped to deal with a 
crisis and have peace 
of mind 
 

Emergency Card Scheme • Annual review produced April 09 
 

 
 

 
• Scheme will be extended to 

young carers and parent carers 

Annual report presented to 
CSG October 2010 – scheme 
established and running well. 
400 carers registered. 
 
Scheme has been extended 
to young carers known to 
YCC. Parent carer pilot 
scheme still in process 
 

York Carers Centre 
 

2
C 

Technology: Carers 
should have access to 
a range of services and 
support 

Telecare 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• No targets set York Carers Forum has 
promoted telecare and 
telehealthcare. 
 
Plan for actions 2010/11 not 
yet drawn up. 

Carers Strategy Manager 
 
 
 
 

2
D 

Housing, Leisure and 
Transport: Carers 
should have access to 
a range of services and 
support 

Discount card scheme 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Carers Emergency Card to be 
linked to CYC leisure discounts. 

 
 
 
 
 

Carers registered with CEC 
and in receipt of Carers 
Allowance eligible for 
discounted CYC leisure rates 
from April 2010 

York Carers Centre/City of 
York Council 
 

P
age 75



Annex B 

   

 
 
National Strategic Outcome Three 
Carers will be financially supported so that they are not forced into financial hardship by their caring role 

 Outcome Local priority Target 09/10 Date achieved Lead group/role 
3
A 

Income: Carers should 
have access to benefits 
advice 

Welfare benefits advice Specialist service provided by YCC Annual figures TBC York Carers Centre 
 

3
B 

Employment: Carers 
should have access to 
employment support 
and vocational training 
 

Ensure carers in employment are 
supported 
 
Encourage carer aware 
employment practice 
 
Training for carers – Living for 
Learning  
 
Make local links with new ‘care 
partnership managers’ at Jobcentre 
Plus 
 

Specialist service provided by YCC – 
outcomes monitoring tool being 
developed. 

Annual figures TBC 
 
 
Some work with local 
employers 
 
 
Living for Learning course 
cancelled due to poor uptake. 
 
Link with Care Partnership 
Manager established 

York Carers Centre/Carers 
Strategy Manager 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 76



Annex B 

   

 
National Strategic Outcome Four 
Carers will be supported to stay mentally and physically well and treated with dignity 
 Outcome Local priority Target 09/10 Date achieved Lead group/role 
4
A 

Prevention: Carers 
should have access to 
appropriate medical 
advice, and support 
about their own health 
needs 

Self-health checklist distribution and 
evaluation 
 
Back care training courses 

Update and reprint as necessary. 
 
 
 
Ensure back care courses/training is 
available to carers. 

*Not achieved 
 
 
 
*No action to date. 

Carers Health Steering  
Group 
 
* The Group did not 
meet due to absence of 
a lead/chair after Dec 
08, until Oct 09. The 
group was reconvened 
successfully and a work 
plan is agreed for 2010 
– 12. 

4
B 

NHS: Carers needs 
should be addressed 
in hospital admission 
and discharge 
procedures including 
mental health  

 
Health agencies to sign up to 
involvement in local action. 

 
No targets set 09/10 

 
*No action 09/10 

Carers Health Steering  
Group 

4
C 

Primary Care and 
GPs: Primary care 
professionals should 
identify carers ensuring 
appropriate support, 
signposting and 
referrals, including 
those supporting 
people with mental 
health problems. 
 

Update GP resource pack 
 
 
Develop work to improve carer 
identification and signposting in 
primary care settings 
 
People with mental health problems 
receiving support from Primary 
Card Services: ensure their carers 
receive appropriate support. 

Decision that GP resource pack is not to 
be reproduced as it not effective. 
 
Carers Health Steering Group to produce 
work plan. 
 
 
 
No targets set 
 

Decision achieved. 
 
 
*Work plan not yet produced. 
 
 
 
*No action to date 

Carers Health Steering  
Group 

4
D 

Emotional Support: 
Carers should have 
support to maintain 
their well being and 
reduce stress 

Audit support and services available  
to carers 
 
Support for ex-carers to tie in with 
End of Life Strategy 

 
 
 
 

*Audit not yet undertaken 
 
 
 
*No action to date 

Carers Health Steering  
Group/Carers Strategy 
Manager 
 
 

4
E 
 
 
 

Young Carers Carers Health Steering Group and 
Outcome Five lead to address how 
the health needs of young carers 
can be meet, and action 
accordingly. 

 
 

*No action to date Carers Health Steering 
Group 

P
age 77



Annex B 

   

 
 
National Strategic Outcome Five 
Children and young people will be protected from inappropriate caring and have the support they need to learn, develop, and thrive, to enjoy positive 
childhoods and to achieve against all the Every Child Matters outcomes. 
(Every Child Matters outcomes: be healthy, stay safe, enjoy and achieve, make a positive contribution, achieve economic well-being) 
 
 Outcome Local priority Target 09/10 Date achieved Lead group/role 
5A Universal 

services: Children 
will have the 
support they need 
to learn develop 
and thrive 

Support schools in York to support 
young carers 

Schools work funded by Early Intervention 
Fund April 09 – March 11. 

Half-time schools worker in 
post at York Carers Centre 
from. 

York Carers Centre 

5B Targeted support 
for young carers: 
Young carers will 
be able to make a 
positive 
contribution and 
have their views 
respected 

Set up a Young Carers Forum Achieve during 09/10 Young carers revolution set 
up during 2010. 

York Carers Centre 

5C Whole family 
support: Children 
and young people 
will be protected 
from inappropriate 
caring 
 

Young Carers Assessment – 
protocol between CYC children’s 
and adults services to be 
implemented. 

Implement protocol and/or identify 
barriers to implementation 

No progress on 
implementation. 
 
YCC have one year’s funding 
for a Family Worker for 10/11 
whose work will include work 
with CYC. 

Carers Strategy 
Manager and York 
Carers Centre  

 
 
 
 

P
age 78



Annex C 

   

York Carers Strategy Action Plan 2010 – 2012  
 
Priority areas:  1D – work on carers pathway 
   1E – personalisation and carers 
   2D – telecare and carers 
   5C – young carers assessments    
    

National Strategic Outcome One 
Carers will be respected as expert care partners and will have access to the integrated and personalised services they need to support them in their caring role. 
 Outcome Local priority Target 2010 - 12 Date achieved  Lead 
1
A 

Information: Carers 
will have easy access 
to accurate information 
and advice 
 

Provision of easily 
accessible information 
and signposting 

• Review current provision and distribution of 
information for carers, and plan for effective 
provision and distribution from April 2011 
• Plan provision of accessible information 
• Keep information accurate and up to date 
• Pilot some targeted provision of information in 
specific local communities in York 
• Access to services and referral routes for 
carers: review and streamline (see 1D) 

 
 
 

 Carers Information 
Group/Carers Strategy 
Manager 
 

1
B 

Carer identification: 
Carers will be 
recognised and valued 
for their unique role in 
supporting the cared for 
person 
 

Increase identification of 
carers in Primary Care 
(see 4C) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See 4C 
 
 
 
 

 Carers Health Steering 
Group/York Carers Centre 

1
C 

Young Adult Carers: 
Carers will have easy 
access to accurate 
information and advice 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Establishment of support 
for young adult carers 
aged 18 years + by York 
Carers Centre 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 York  Carers Centre 

P
age 79



Annex C 

   

1
D 

Integrated services: 
Services and 
information will be 
provided in an 
coordinated way across 
and within agencies 
 

Closer joint working 
and partnerships 
between health, social 
care and the third 
sector 

 
 
 
Awareness raising for 
professionals 
 

• Design and describe a micro ‘carers 
pathway’ to be to be integrated into all other 
‘pathways’ 
• Ensure work to identify and signpost 
carers is included in all condition and service 
specific ‘pathways’ 

 
 

 Carers Strategy 
Manager/York Carers 
Centre 

1
E 

Personalised 
services: Carers will 
have access to a range 
of flexible services that 
meet their individual 
needs 
 

Carer Assessment of 
Need 
 
Personalisation 
 
 
Common 
Assessment 
Framework 

• Continue to closely monitor provision of CANs 
and Flexible Carer Support  Scheme 
 
• Personalisation and carers: set up initial 
meeting with carers autumn 2010. 
• Carers issue: PA recruitment/retention and 
training 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

City of York Council 
 

1
F 

Carer involvement: 
Carers will be involved 

in planning and 
monitoring the services 

they receive 
 

Carer involvement • Provide ongoing support to carers forums. 
 
• Review how groups are able to network and 
ensure carers’ voice is heard in local planning and 
monitoring, including work to ’hear’ voice of young 
carers; and work to include ‘hidden’ carers. 

 Carers Strategy Manager 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 80



Annex C 

   

 
 

National Strategic Outcome Two 
Carers will be able to have a life of their own alongside their caring role 
 Outcome Local priority Target 2010 - 12 Date achieved  Lead 
2
A 

Break provision: 
Carers should have 
access to a range of 
flexible breaks 
 

Joint planning between 
social care and health. 
 
Review current breaks 
provision 

 
Personal budgets to 
enable carers to take 
breaks 

• Establish integrated approach to collate 
information about unmet need for carers breaks. 
• Plan flexible approaches re response to 
unmet need 
• Map the impact of personal budgets on 
current carers breaks and respite funding. 

 Carers Strategy Manager 
 

2
B 

Emergency Card 
Scheme: Carers 
should be better 
equipped to deal with a 
crisis and have peace 
of mind 
 

Emergency Card Scheme • Complete work to pilot the scheme to parent 
carers 

 
 
 

 York Carers Centre 
 

2
C 

Technology: Carers 
should have access to 
a range of services and 
support 

Telecare 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Explore potential of promoting telecare as a 
‘universal service’ for carers 

 Carers Strategy Manager 
 
 
 

 

2
D 

Housing, Leisure and 
Transport: Carers 
should have access to 
a range of services and 
support 

Discount card scheme 
 
 
 
 
 
Housing Strategy 

• Extend the discount card scheme for carers, 
and implement. Launch December 2010. 

 
 
 
 
• Ensure needs of unpaid carers incorporated 
into Housing Strategy document. 
 
 
 

 York Carers Centre 
 
 
 
 
 
Carers Strategy Manager 

P
age 81



Annex C 

   

National Strategic Outcome Three 
Carers will be financially supported so that they are not forced into financial hardship by their caring role 

 Outcome Local priority Target 2010 - 12 Date achieved  Lead 
3
A 

Income: Carers should 
have access to benefits 
advice 

Welfare benefits advice Ensure carers can access financial advice when the 
cared for enters residential care, and at end of life. 
 
 

 York Carers 
Centre/Carers Strategy 
Manager 
 

3
B 

Employment: Carers 
should have access to 
employment support 
and vocational training 
 

Ensure carers in 
employment are 
supported 
 
Encourage carer aware 
employment practice 
 
Training for carers  
 
Ensure links with Care 
Partnership Manager at 
Jobcentre Plus are 
sustained 
 

  York Carers 
Centre/Carers Strategy 
Manager 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 82



Annex C 

   

 
 

National Strategic Outcome Four 
Carers will be supported to stay mentally and physically well and treated with dignity  (Targets agreed by Carers Health Steering Group) 
 Outcome Local priority Target 2010 - 12 Date 

achieved  
Lead 

4
A 

Prevention: Carers 
should have access to 
appropriate medical 
advice, and support 
about their own health 
needs 

1. Self-health checklist distribution and 
evaluation 
 
2. To learn from the national demonstrator 
sites and adapt action plan if appropriate.  
 
3. Explore opportunities for Back care 
training. 
 
4. Ensure advice on lifting and handling 
given to carers on discharge of cared for 
person from Hospital. 
 

1.Update and identify funding for reprint. 
Distribution by December 2010 
 
2. Carer leads to report any findings at future 
meeting 

 
3. Training identified and offered March 2011. 

 
 

4. Included in discharge policy by March 2011 

 1. York Carers  Centre and 
York Carers Forum 
 
2. Carers Leads from 
Carers Health Steering 
Group  
 
3. TBC 
 
4. NHS NYY 

4
B 

NHS: Carers needs 
should be addressed 
in hospital admission 
and discharge 
procedures including 
mental health  

1.To include recommendations of ADASS 
report ‘Carers as Partners in Hospital 
Discharge’ in discharge policy and contracts 
for acute care 
http://www.adass.org.uk/index.php?option=
com_content&view=article&id=504&Itemid=
386 
 
2. To pilot the Carers Passport within YDFT, 
evaluate and recommend roll out if shown 
to be successful 
 
 

1. Inclusion in discharge policies and contracts by 
March 2010 for implementation from April 2011. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Pilot to take start by Dec 2010 
 Recommendations completed by March 2011? 

 
 

1. NHS NYY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. YDFT 

4
C 

Primary Care and 
GPs: Primary care 
professionals should 
identify carers ensuring 
appropriate support, 
signposting and 
referrals, including 
those supporting 
people with mental 
health problems. 

1. Promote carers issues with GP practices 
by utilising the Royal College of GPs action 
guide for GPs and their teams. 
 
2. Utilise opportunities for input to GP and 
community staff training and development 
events to raise carers issues. 
 
3. People with mental health problems 
receiving support from Primary Care 

1.Distribute amended action guide to all GP 
practices by December 2010. 
 
 
2. Links to TARGET sessions eg Dementia training 
as opportunities arise. 
 
 
3. Raise issues with York Mental Health 
Modernisation and Partnership Board Health by Dec 

 1. NHS NYY & York Health 
Group 
 
 
2. NHS NYY & York Health 
Group 
 
 
3. NHS North Yorkshire  
 

P
age 83



Annex C 

   

 
 
 
 

Services: ensure their carers receive 
appropriate support. 
 
4. Adapt the Royal College of Psychiatrists 
/Princess Royal Trust for Carers Checklist 
for Psychiatrists – working in partnership 
with carers, to promote with CMHT / 
Geriatricians 
 
 

2010. 
Explore use of Mental Health Support Line 
 
4. Distribute amended checklist by March 2011. 
 

 
 
 
4. NHS NYY, CMHT & York 
FDT 
 
 

4
D 

Emotional Support: 
Carers should have 
support to maintain 
their well being and 
reduce stress 
 
 

1. Audit support and services available to 
carers. Identify gaps in provision and 
consider options. 
 
2. Support for ex-carers to tie in with End of 
Life Strategy 

1. Audit completed by December 2010. 
 
 
 
2. Develop end of life recommendations for 
supporting carers 
 

 1. Carers Health Steering 
Group 
 
 
2. Links to be made with 
End of Life Strategy Group. 
 
 

4
E 
 
 
 
 

Young Carers Carers Health Steering Group and Outcome 
Five lead to address how the health needs 
of young carers can be meet, and action 
accordingly. Priorities identified: 

1. Emotional support and CAMHS 
2. Raise awareness of GPs through 

Young Carers Revolution DVD 
3. Staying healthy – self health checklist 
for young carers. 

 
1. TBC 
 
2. TBC 

 
3. TBC 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Carers Health Steering 
Group / Outcome 5 lead. 

P
age 84



Annex C 

   

 
 
National Strategic Outcome Five 
Children and young people will be protected from inappropriate caring and have the support they need to learn, develop, and thrive, to enjoy positive childhoods 
and to achieve against all the Every Child Matters outcomes. 
(Every Child Matters outcomes: be healthy, stay safe, enjoy and achieve, make a positive contribution, achieve economic well-being) 
 
 Outcome Local priority Target 2010 - 12 Date achieved  Lead 
5A Universal 

services: Children 
will have the 
support they need 
to learn develop 
and thrive 

Support schools in York 
to support young carers 

Establish future funding options for Young Carers 
Service schools work beyond March 2011. 

 Carers Strategy 
Group/York Carers Centre 

5B Targeted support 
for young carers: 
Young carers will 
be able to make a 
positive 
contribution and 
have their views 
respected 

Young Carers Forum Ensure the new Forum becomes an established 
group. Ensure ongoing support for the group and 
work on its future independence. 

 Carers Strategy 
Group/York Carers Centre 

5C Whole family 
support: Children 
and young people 
will be protected 
from inappropriate 
caring 
 

Young Carers 
Assessment – 
protocol between CYC 
children’s and adults 
services to be 
implemented. 

Ensure assessments for young carers are easily 
available in York. 

 City of York Council, ACE 

 
 
 

P
age 85



P
age 86

T
his page is intentionally left blank



OSC Carers Review – Paper 3 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   
 

 
Carer Review Paper 3 

Key Partners and additional local information 
 
York Carers Strategy Group 
The Carers Strategy Group is the multi-agency group of people who meet quarterly to work in 
partnership to implement York Strategy for Carers. The group includes four carer members alongside 
professionals from City of York Council, NHS North Yorkshire and York, York Hospital, and voluntary 
sector organisations. The group works to an Action Plan which aims to make sure the best possible 
support and services are available for carers in the City of York.  
 
Carers Strategy Group membership 
Organisation Name Role 
City of York Council 
 

 Kathy Clark Interim Assistant Director of 
Commissioning and Partnerships  

 Gary Brittain Commissioning and Contracts Manager 
 

 Frances Perry Carers Strategy Manager 
 

 Howard Lovelady Group Manager Resources, 
Children Services 
 

 Ralph Edwards Group Manager Assessment & 
Personalisation 

NHS - North 
Yorkshire and York  

Paul Skilbeck Locality Manager – Learning Disability 
Services,  

 Eddie Devine Manager of Integrated Adult Mental 
Health Community Services 

 Jenny Carter Manager - Provider Services,  
 Judith Knapton Head of Commissioning 
York Hospital Trust Lucy Connolly Assistant Chief Nurse 
Job Centre Plus David Cowell Care Partnership Manager 
York Council for 
Voluntary Services 

Sian Balsom Development Officer 

York Carers Centre 
 

Linda Stubbs Manager, York Carers Centre 

Carers 
representatives 

  

 Ruth Thompson 
Lis Johnstone 

CANDI 
 

 Jackie Chapman York Carers Forum 
 

 Katie Smith York Carers Forum 
 

 Irene Mace York Carers Forum 
 

 Feedback method 
to be agreed 

Young Carers Forum 
 

Co-options   

Page 87



OSC Carers Review – Paper 3 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   
 

 Mick Waudby Co-option - carer 
 

 
Task Groups 
Currently York Carers Strategy Group oversee the work of two task groups: 
 

• Carers Information Group: chaired by Sarah Fitsell, Information Development Worker at 
York Carers Centre. The group’s membership and structure is currently under review. 
 
• Carers Health Steering Group: chaired by Judith Knapton, Head of Commissioning 
(Services for Vulnerable People), NHS North Yorkshire and York. 

 
In addition it has been agreed that a Task Group should be set up, to focus on work required to 
support Young Carers. 
 
Third sector organisations commissioned to provide services for carers 
The specialist third sector organisation for all carers: 
 

• York Carers Centre 
http://www.yorkcarerscentre.co.uk 
Supports adult and young carers with all issues and problems which may arise as a result of 
caring.  Information on  benefits, respite, support groups, holidays and employment. Provide the 
‘Carers Emergency Card’ in partnership with City of York Council, and a specialist Employment 
Education and Training service. 

 
Third Sector organisations in York commissioned to provide services which include some specifically 
for carers; or with remits re ‘hard to reach’ groups of carers, or specific service provision: 
 

• Age Concern York 
http://www.ageconcernyork.org.uk 
Provides advice, information and practical help for older people over 60 and their carers. The  
‘In Safe Hands’ service provides breaks for carers. 
 
• Alzheimers Society – York 
http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/custom_scripts/branch.php?branch=true&branchCode
=12864 
Offers advice, support and information for those whose lives are affected by dementia. 
Specifically commissioned to provide ‘Caring and Coping’ training courses for carers. 
 
• Crossroads 
http://www.crossroads.org.uk/index.php?mid=21&sid=45&pgid=142&id=93 
Practical help and short breaks for carers of both adults and children. 
 
• North Yorkshire and York Family and Carers Service 
http://www.familyandcarers.org/ 
Provided support and services to families and carers affected by someone else’s substance 
misuse. 
 
• Stroke Association Information Advice and Support Service 
http://www.stroke.org.uk/in_your_area/services_map/york.html 

Page 88



OSC Carers Review – Paper 3 

Author Frances Perry, Carers Strategy Manager, City of York Council 
 
   
 

 
A visiting service providing practical information and emotional support to families and carers of 
people in York for up to a year after a stroke. 
 
• York and District Mind 
http://www.yorkmind.org.uk/ 
 
Provide a range of services including a specialist counselling service for carers when the person 
they care for has mental health problems. 
 

Carer led Forums 
York has three very active forums: 
 

• York Carers Forum 
http://yorkcarersforum.org/ 
This group offers support to all unpaid carers and former carers aged over 18 years who live, 
work or care for someone in the York area. The group is run by unpaid carers and former 
carers. 
 
• CANDI – Children and Inclusion  
http://www.yorcandi.org.uk/ 
This is the forum for parents of disabled children and young people, or those who have 
additional needs, in York and the surrounding area. 
 
• Young Carers Revolution 
http://www.youngcarersrevolution.blogspot.com/ 
This is the group of young carers who have successfully launched a media campaign to raise 
awareness about young carers. 
 

Other third sector organisations and support groups 
York has a wealth of organisations and groups, which also offer support to carers. These are listed in  
‘Carers Information. A – Z of useful organisations.’ This was compiled by the Carers Information 
Group, and was last updated in January 2010.  
 
(A copy of the A-Z is supplied as part of the supporting documents.) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



Page 90

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex D

Carers Infomation

A-Z of Useful Organisations

A Carer is someone who, unpaid, is looking after a relative, friend or neighbour who is ill disabled, frail or in need of emotional support.

This directory was created by the Carers Information Group on behalf of the York Carers Strategy group.  
It is meant for workers to use and should not be given out to the public.  
The organisations listed in the directory provide services to people living in and around the City of York.

We have made an effort to ensure the directory is accurate but we can’t accept responsibility for errors or omissions.
If you find something needs updating please let us know:  enquiries@yorkcarerscentre.co.uk

Inclusion of an organisation in this directory is not an endorsement of them or the service they provide.

This document produced in January 2010.

P
age 91



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

GUIDE ONLY

Age Concern √ √ √ √
Age Concern - 
day clubs

√

Age Concern - 
netneighbours

√

Age Concern -
hospital services

√

Alcohol Advice 
Service YAAS

√

Alternatives to 
Violence

√

Alzheimer's 
Society

√ √ √ √ √

ARC Light √ √
Arthritis Care √
Autistic Society √

Avalon √ √ √
Barnardo's 
Children's 
Services

√

BASPCAN √
Benefits Enquiry 
Line DWP

√

P
age 92



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

Besom √
Blind and 
Partially Sighted

√

Blue Badge 
Scheme

√

Breathe Easy 
York

√ √ √

CAB √ √ √
Cancer Care - 
YDH

√ √

CANDI √ √ √
Care Quality 
Commission

√

Carecent √
Carers 
Emergency Card

√ √ √

Carers UK √ √
Castlegate for 
Young People

√ √ √ √

Childwatch √ √
Cinema Card √
Community 
Equipment Loan

√

Community 
Furniture Store

√

P
age 93



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

Community 
Units for the 
Elderly

√ √

Compass One √
Compassionate 
Friends

√

Connexions √ √
Contact a Family √

Counsel and 
Care

√ √

Counsellors √
Credit Union √
Crisis Call √ √ √
Crossroads √ √
CRUSE √
CVS √
CYC  - Carers 
Assessment

√ √ √

CYC -  Yorkshire 
Housing 
/Handyman 
Scheme

√

CYC - Adult 
Social Care

√

CYC - Carers 
Strategy 
Manager

√

P
age 94



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

CYC - Children 
Social Care

√

CYC - 
Emergency Duty 
Scheme

√ √ √

CYC - Employee 
support

√

CYC - Housing √
CYC -Benefits 
Advice team

√

Dial and Ride √ √
Disability Law 
Service

√ √

Door to Door √
Drinkline √
DWP - Benefits 
Enquiry Line

√

Early Support √
Epilepsy Action √

Equality and 
Human Rights

√

Falls Prevention 
Practitioners

√

Family Fund √ √
Family Holiday 
online

√

P
age 95



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

Family 
Information 
Service

√

Family 
Mediation 
Service

√

Fast Response 
Team

√

First Call 50+ √
First Stop 
Advice

√ √

FRANK √ √
Freecycle - York √

Future 
Prospects

√ √

HARP √ √
Headway Group √ √

Health Walks
Help the Aged √ √ √
Home 
Improvement 
Agency

√

Home Start York √

ICAS √ √
IDAS √ √
Inclusion 
Housing

√

P
age 96



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

Jessie's Fund √
Job Centre Plus √ √

Learndirect √
Lesbian Line √
LGBT √
Lives Unlimited √

Mac Millan 
Cancer Care

√ √ √ √

Mainstay √
Marie Curie 
Cancer Care

√ √

Martin House √ √
Mencap √
Mencap - 
Pathway

√

Mental Health 
Support Line

√

MIND √ √
Monkgate 
Clinics

√

MS York Branch √ √

National 
Benevolent 
Fund For the 
Aged

√ √

National 
Debtline

√

P
age 97



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

NHFA √ √ √
NHS Direct √
NHS Smoking 
Helpline

√

NIACE √
North Yorks 
Aids Action

√

NY and York 
Family and 
Carers 
substance 
misuse

√ √

North Yorkshire 
Forum for 
voluntary orgs

√

NSPCC √
NYCC √ √ √
OCAY √ √
Optician √
Our Celebration √

PACT √
PALS - NYYPCT √
PALS - YDH
Parent Line √ √
Parkinson's 
Disease Society

√ √

P
age 98



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

Parkinson's 
Disease Society  
York 

√ √

Peasholme 
Resettlement

√

POLICE - NON 
emerg

√

Postural 
Stability Classes

√

Princes Trust √
Princess Royal 
Trust for Carers

√ √ √ √ √

Priory Street 
Centre

√

RADAR √
Railcard √
Recovery after 
Psychosis RAP

√ √

Red Cross - 
transport

√

Reflect √
Relate and 
Relate Teen

√

REMAP √
Resource Centre 
for Deafened 
people

√

P
age 99



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

Rethink √ √
Riding for the 
Disabled

√

ROCC √
Salvation Army √ √

Salvation Army - 
LD Advocacy

√

Samaritans √
Saneline √
SCOPE √
Selby Carers 
Service

√ √ √ √

Shared Housing 
Scheme

√

Sharing Care √ √
Shopmobility √
Skills for Care √
SNAPPY √
SSAFA √ √
St Leonards 
Hospice

√ √

Stroke 
Association

√

Surestart √
Survive √
Survivors UK for 
men

√

P
age 100



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

Talkback  North 
Yorkshire

√ √

Telecare √
TV Licensing √
The Island √
Victim Support √

Warden Call √
Warm Front √
Welfare 
Benefits Unit

Workers

Welfare Rights √ √

Wheelchair 
Centre

√

Wilberforce 
Trust

√

Wilf Ward 
Family Trust

√

William Merritt 
Disabled Living 
Centre

√

Winter Fuel 
Helpline

√

Women's 
Counselling 
Service

√

P
age 101



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

Woodlands MS 
Resource Centre

√

Workers' 
Educational 
Assoc

√

Working 
Families 
Helpline

√

York Action on 
Young Homeless

√ √

York and District 
ME Group

√ √

York Carers 
Centre

√ √ √ √ √

York Carers 
Forum

√

York Diocese 
Social Carer 
Group
York District 
Hospital

√

York Drug 
Resource 
Scheme

√

York Mediation 
Service

√

P
age 102



Annex D

Correct as at 
1/1/2010.

Advocacy Benefits 
and 
Grants

Carers 
Support

Children 
and 
Young 
People

MH LD Phy Sensory Adults 
/Older 
People

Housing Tranport others

York Nightstop √ √

York Racial 
Equality 
Network

√

York Travellers 
Trust

√

York Wheels √
Yortime √
Yorvik Gateway 
Club
Young Carers 
Initiative

√

Young Carers 
Service

√

P
age 103



Annex D

A - Z  of Useful 
Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
Age Concern                                
The Chief Officer 70 Walmgate   
York   Yo1 9TL

www.age.concernyork.org.uk In Safe Hands  Scheme. Information Officer.  Benefits/Money 
Advice Officer, Housing Support, Publications. Community 
Befriending and Support.  Outings swimming, holidays. Talks and 
training. For people over 60yrs

Age Concern - Day Clubs www.age.concernyork.org.uk Alex Lyon House  Tang Hall,   Lincoln Court  Acomb  and Marjorie 
Waite Court.  Lunch, refreshment and activities.

Age Concern - Hospital Services www.age.concernyork.org.uk For people leaving hospital or intermediate care.  To prevent 
admission and re-admission to hospital by providing overnight 
support and ongoing emotional and practical support.

Age Concern - Netneighbours www.age.concernyork.org.uk Enables older people to gain access to internet shopping.  
Volunteers ring older person , take order and organise delivery 
over the internet.

Alcohol Advice Service   -YAAS        
The Lodge  63  Bootham  York 
YO30 7BT

www.yaas.info Free, confidential service offering advice and support to those 
affected by their own or others alcohol use.

Alternatives to Violence Project - 
York

www.avpbritain.org.uk Workshops for people from all walks of life to manage behaviour

Alzheimer's Society  - Selby and 
York Branch                            
Holgate Villa  22 Holgate  York 
YO24  4AB             

www.alzheimers.org.uk Champions the rights of people living with dementia. Carer 
contact, listening ear, befriender service, carer education, 
helpline, public awareness, factsheet, magazine and regular 
Caring and Coping courses.

ARC Light                                     
Union Terrace  York  Y031 7ES

www.york-arclight.co.uk Accommodation and support  for homeless men and women in 
York.  A place to stay but also a chance to make positive changes.  
Education, heath , fitness and community facilities.

Arthritis Care www.arthritiscare.org.uk Branches in Harrogate, Scarborough
Autistic Society National www.autism.org.uk/cip Champions the rights and interests of all people with autism.

P
age 104



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
Avalon                                            6 
Clifton Moor Village            James 
Nicholson Link  York  YO30 4XG

www.avalonservices.org.uk Support for people with disabilities, mental health issues and 
older people.  Work focuses on Family Living and Supported 
Living.

Barnardo's Children's Services www.barnardos.org.uk Services for children , young people and families in need.  Leaving 
care, adoption,  child protection, training, employment and 
family support for disabled children

BASPCAN                                       
British Association for the Study 
and Prevention of Child Abuse 
and Neglect.      17 Priory Street 
YO1 6ET

www.baspcan.org.uk Membership association for professionals and volunteers 
working in child protection.

Benefits:                                            
Enquiry Line (DWP)_    

www.direct.gov.uk other useful numbers:  AA/DLA 08457123456  Carers Allowance 
Helpline 0845 6084321  Crisis Loans: 0800 0327950  Pension 
Credit: 0800 991234  The Pension Service 0845 6060265  Tax 
Credit Enquiry Line 0845 3003900  Social Fund Application 0845 
6088671

Besom                                                   www.thebesominyork.co.uk Forms a bridge between church and its community. Gives what 
people have, time, skills, items to those who need it. NB. 
Volunteers are not CRB checked.

Blind and Partially Sighted - York                                                 
22 Holgate Rd  York  Y024 4AB

www.ybpss.org Practical ideas and advice. Products to make life easier and 
maximise independence.  Services, activities and support groups.  
Referral to other stat and vol orgs. Open 10-2 no appt.

Blue Badge Scheme www.york.gov.uk Forms can be downloaded from CYC website.  £2.00 charge for 
badge and must meet criteria

Breathe Easy York www.breatheeasyyork.co.uk  British Lung Foundation. Support persons of all ages who suffer 
with lung disorders.  Social meeting monthly.

CAB - 3 Blossom Street  YORK  
YO24 1AU

www.yorkcab.org.uk Advice. Information, support and advocacy on any matter in 
particular debt, employment and housing. Drop in and 
appointments Mon- Thurs check web or ring for times.

P
age 105



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
Cancer Care Centre - YDH www.yorkhospitals.nhs.uk Therapies, oncology service, specialist nurses, self help and 

support group. Information Library and benefit advice.

CANDi (Children and Inclusion www.yorkcab.org.uk Forum for parents and carers who have children who have a 
disability and or/ additional needs. Aim to promote inclusive 
practices and provide leisure and support for parents or carers.

Care Quality Commission      
itygate  Gallowgate  Newcastle 
upon Tyne

www.carequalitycommission.org.uk Independent regulator of health and social care in England.  
Regulate health and adult social care services whether NHS, LA, 
private company or voluntary organisation.

Carecent  for Homeless and 
Lonely- York  Room 5  Central 
Methodist Church  St.Saviourgate  
York YO1 8NQ

Free cooked breakfast. Clean clothing available, befriending, 
listening, signposting if requested. Mon - Sat except Christmas 
Day

Carers Emergency Card (request) www.yorkcarerscentre.co.uk A partnership a between York Carers Centre and CYC's Warden 
Call Service.  Scheme is free and allows carers to register an 
emergency plan.

Carers UK www.carersuk.org Empowers for Carers - aims to address issues affecting carers 
who work and want to work.  Information to carers and 
employers.  CHECK WEB for other campaigns

Castlegate for young people 29 
Castlegate  YORK  YO1 9RN          
(Previously known as YES)

www.29castlegate.org 16 -25 counselling and info on where to live, money, benefits, 
work, education, your rights, relationship and sexual health. Drop 
in service from 11.00am Mon - Fri

Childwatch www.childwatch.org.uk Acts as a bridge between general public and agencies.  Tel 
counselling for young people and adults who have been abused.

Cinema Card www.ceacard.co.uk National card that can be used to allow a carer a free cinema 
ticket  when accompanying a disabled person.  Disabled person 
must meet DLA/AA or be registered blind although other 
circumstances may be allowed..  Processing fee applies.

P
age 106



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
Colitis and Crohn's  - York Support 
Group (NACC)
Community Equipment Loan 
Service

Service funded by CYC, NYCC and PCT.  Supply equipment from 
referral only but when equipment is no longer required users can 
ring to arrange collection 

Community Furniture Store Unit 
29 The Raylor Centre James Street  
York  YO10 3DW

cfs@furniturestore.freeserve.co.uk Independent charity; it provides low cost furniture recycled in 
good condition to people on a low income. Furniture and 
electrical goods are collected free from the public.  Also supplies 
new good -eg beds and white goods.

Community Units for the Elderley 
(CUE's)

www.nyypct.nhs.uk Inpatient services for people over 65 experiencing mental health 
problems. Meadowfields, Mill Lodge, Cherry Tree House and 
Peppermill Court in York.

Compass One                              6/7 
Bridge Street  York YO1 6DD

www.compass-uk.org Independent charity offering advice, information and support on 
all matters related to drug mis-use.  Needle exchange, 
psychosocial intervention and Drop In service.

Compassionate Friends www.tcf.org.uk Befriending  service for bereaved parents.  Local contact in York

Connexions www.connexions-direct.com For young people 13-19. Confidential advice and information on 
learning, careers, health relationships, money etc. Duke of 
Edinburgh's Award Scheme, drama support through Network 2.

Contact a Family www.cafamily.org.uk National charity dedicated to helping families with disabilities 
and special needs. Information on specific conditions and rare 
disorder

Counsel and Care www.counselandcare.org.uk National charity working with older people, their families and 
carers.  Advice line, factsheets, newsletter and for eg advice on 
paying for care etc

Counsellors - British Association 
for Counselling and 
Psychotherapy

www.bacp.co.uk Search and check credential of counsellors

P
age 107



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
Credit Union                                17 
Priory Street  York  YO1 6ET

www.ycu.org.uk A financial co-operative offering safe savings and low cost loans 
to people who live or work in York.  Authorised and regulated by 
financial services authority.

Crisis Call Out of hours telephone helpline  for people who are in crisis due 
to MH problems in NYCC area.  Carer could live in NYCC area.

Crossroads                                    7 
Regent Buildings  York Rd ACOMB  
York YO26 4LT

www.crossroads.org.uk/harrogate Home based respite services for carers who are supporting adults 
AND in York there is a Children's Carer respite service for carers 
of children.

CRUSE www.crusebereavement.care.org.uk Counselling advice and information to all those bereaved.  
Support groups and counselling for children and people with a 
learning disability.

CVS - York Council for Voluntary 
Services

www.yorkcvs.org.uk Develops, supports and promotes the work of voluntary and 
community groups.

CYC - Adult Social Care                              www.york.gov.uk Initial Assessment and Safeguarding Team
CYC - Carers Assessment (adult) www.york.gov.uk

CYC - Children Social Care www.york.gov.uk Referral and Assessment Team
CYC - Emerge Duty Team www.york.gov.uk NYCC and York out of hours service
CYC - Housing www.york.gov.uk Housing options
CYC- Benefits Advice Team www.york.gov.uk Advice by phone, appt or home visit.  Help with completing 

forms, problems or appeals
CYC Carers Strategy Manager: 
Frances Perry

frances.perry@york.gov.uk

CYC- Employee Support staffsupport@york.nhs.uk
CYC/Yorkshire Housing Group  
(Handyman Scheme)

www.york.gov.uk  Service for council, social housing and private residents on low 
income or people due to frailty cannot carry out small jobs 
around the home. For eg changing batteries in smoke detectors, 
light bulbs, hazard assessments for eg frayed carpets.  No charge 
for labour but small charge for materials.

Dial and Ride www.york.gov.uk  CYC door to door service for York residents who have difficulty 
getting around.  Bookings only

P
age 108



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
Disability Law Service check Free legal advice and information for disabled people, families 

and carers.
Door to Door www.dptac.gov.uk/door-to-

door/index.htm
Transport and travel website for disabled and less mobile people 
whether travelling by air, rail or to hospital etc.

Drinkline www.dwp.gov.uk Free telephone helpline for anyone who is concerned about their 
own or someone else's drinking.

DWP - Benefits Enquiry Line Free advice line from landlines.  For advisors, carers or their 
representatives.

Early Support www.dcsf.gov.uk Family support for children under 5 with disabilities and complex 
needs.

Epilepsy Action www.epilepsy.org.uk Information on epilepsy and encourages a wide and sympathetic 
understanding of the condition.  Local group meets first Tuesday 
of most months  7.30pm Friends Meeting House

Equality and Human Rights 
Commission

www.equalityhumanrights.com Role in protecting and promoting respect for human rights and 
principles.

Falls Prevention Practitioners www.nyypct.nhs.uk Multi Discipline Team. Undertakes home assessments, now 
accepting self referrals.  For people with a history of falling or at 
risk of falling.  See also Postural Stability Classes

Family Fund                                      
4 Alpha Court  Monks Cross Drive  
York  YO32 9WN

www.familyfund.org.uk Grants for families with severely disabled child(ren) for things 
that make life easier, for eg washing machines, driving lessons 
etc.

Family Holiday Online                   
16 Mortimer Street  London 

www.fhaonline.org.uk Works to help families who have a disability get a break.

Family Information Service  Mill 
House  North Street  York YO1 6JD

www.yor-ok.org.uk For parent carers of 0-19's.  Info re childcare, early education 
places and paying for childcare.

Family Mediation Service      22 
Holgate Rd  York  YO24 4AB

www.yorkfms.co.uk For people who may be separating or divorcing and are having 
difficulty reaching agreement with partners concerning children, 
finance and property.

Fast Response Service             
Monkgate  York

PCT service.  Multi discipline assessment. 24/7 service.

P
age 109



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
First Call 50+Plus www.firstcall50plus.org.uk Signposting service to people over 50 to help them remain 

independent and safe in their own home.
First Stop Advice www.firststopcareadvice.org.uk Independent free service, advice and info to older people, their 

families and carers about care and housing options in later life.

FRANK Advice and information about drugs and their effects  - for young 
people.

Freecycle York www.yorkrecycle.net
Future Prospects                       24 
Swinegate York  YO1 8AZ

www.futureprospects.org.uk York's Learning and Work advice service. 1-2-1 Counselling 
service. Skills for Life advice.  IT courses

HARP - Housing Advice Resource 
Project                      277 High 
Street  Northallerton  DL7 8DW

www.ukonline.co.uk/harpline Advice relating to housing issues. Available to adviser in the 
voluntary and statutory sector.  Training and casework.

Headway Group                         15 
Priory Street  York  YO1 6ET

www.headway.org.uk Aims to promote understanding of all aspects of brain injury and 
to support people with an injury, their families and carers.  See 
local web page for local groups/social events.

Health Walks in York                
Community Leisure Officer  18 
Back Swinegate  Swinegate Court  
York  YO1 8ZD

www.york.gov.uk Regular local walks for all ages and abilities.

Help the Aged www.helptheaged.org.uk international charity fighting to free older people from poverty, 
isolation and neglect

Home Improvement Agency 
Yorkshire House  6 Innovation 
Close  Heslington  York  YO10 5ZF

www.yorkshirehousing.co.uk Supported by CYC.  Independent advice on repairs, 
improvements, adaptations for clients particularly those over 60 
or disabled people of any age.

Home-Start York                         49 
Cemetery Rd   Fulford  Yo10 5AJ

www.home-start.org.uk Support and practical help to families under stress.  Volunteers 
visit families at home.

P
age 110



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
ICAS  Independent Complaints 
Advocacy Service  Unit A2  The 
Raylor Centre  James Street  York 
YO10 3DW

www.carersfederation.co.uk ICAS is a free, independent and confidential service to people 
who want to complain about their NHS treatment or care.

IDAS (Independent Domestic 
Abuse Service)       PO Box 487  
York  YO26 OAS

www.idas.org.uk Formerly Women's Aid but now provide support to male victims 
of abuse as well. Support services to all those experiencing or 
affected by domestic abuse.  Now have a young person's 
advocacy worker to work with people aged 11 to 18 yrs old

Inclusion Housing                      15 
Priory Street  York  YO1 6ET

www.inclusionhousing.cic.org.uk Provides housing for vulnerable adults with LD, MH or people 
with a brain injury.  Also employment and training. Volunteer 
info through TimeBank scheme

Jessie's Fund                                15 
Priory Street                          York 
YO1 6ET

www.jessiesfund.org.uk Aims to give  seriously ill or children with a disability access to 
music making or music therapy.

Job Centre Plus www.jobcentreplus.gov.uk For adults of working age seeking work or who wish to claim or 
notify benefit changes.

Learndirect www.learndirect.co.uk National Learning Service advice line
Lesbian Line Advice and support line
LGBT Informal social group for lesbian, bisexual + transgender 

community in York
Lives Unlimited no web site yet Supports people with a LD to have control over their lives, be 

included and have choices and opportunities in their community

Mac Millan Cancer Care Service www.Macmillan.org.uk Provides practical, medical and financial support.

Mainstay                                        15 
Priory Street  YORK  YO1 6ET

Small charity representing mental health service users who are 
working to improve services in the area.

Marie Curie  Cancer care  (North 
Yorkshire)                       31 
Walmgate  York

www.mariecurie.org.uk Fundraising and info to support nurses giving hands on care at 
home.

P
age 111



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
Martin House  Children's Hospice                                          
Wetherby

www.martinhouse.org.uk Care for children and young people with progressive life limiting 
illness and support to their families.

MENCAP www.mencap.org.uk National Learning Disability helpline for all advice and 
information, for eg education, local groups etc.

MENCAP  Pathway                    15 
Priory Street  York

www.mencap.org.uk Aims to give people with a learning disability equal opportunity 
to secure and sustain employment

Mental Health Support Line - 24hr                                              
22 The Avenue     Clifton  York  
YO30 6AS

Telephone based support and information service to over 18's 
who experience MH problems at the time they most need it.  
Available to carers and supporters.

MIND                                                    
9 Castlegate   York

www.yorkmind.org.uk Counselling sessions to carers of people with MH problems 
including Alzheimer's.  Advice, support, information and 
advocacy on any matter including benefits, debt, housing and 
employment.  Appointments, drop in and groups

Monkgate Clinics                          31 
Monkgate  York YO31 7WA

www.nhs.uk Specialist sexual health services, Family Planning and 
Genitourinary Medicine. FP and GUM offers men, women and 
young people of all ages the opportunity to discuss sexual health 
in a safe, friendly and informal environment. Open Access.

Multiple Sclerosis Society - York 
Branch

Aims to help and advise any person with MS and/or their family.  
Newsletter, social events etc.  

National Benevolent Fund for the 
Aged - NBFA

www.nbfa.org.uk Provides direct, practical assistance through the provision of 
emergency alarms, TENS pain relief machines and organising free 
holidays.

National Debtline www.nationaldebtline.co.uk Free confidential and independent advice.  Debt advice, 
factsheet, sample letter etc.

NHFA www.hsbcpensions.co.uk/nhfa Free specialist financial advice especially for those self funding 
long term care, help with finding a home etc.

NHS - Smoking Helpline www.nhs.uk/gosmokefree
NHS Direct www.nhsdirect.nhs.uk  Confidential 24 hr advice , health and medical  advice and 

information service

P
age 112



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
NIACE                                              
The National Institute for Adults 
Continuing Education

www.niace.org.uk Promoting adult learning

North Yorkshire Aids Action  12a 
St Saviours Place  York  

www.northyorkshireaidsaction.org.uk Voluntary organisation to support and information concerning 
HIV and AIDS

North Yorkshire and York Family 
and Carers Service for substance 
misuse.

NYYPCT.A service for people whose lives are affected by drugs.  
Signpost users and refer for treatment. Support for carers

North Yorkshire Forum for 
Voluntary Organisation. 
Easingwold

www.nyfvo.org.uk NYFVO promotes and supports new and existing voluntary and 
community organisations in NY and York/

NSPCC                                            65 
Osbaldwick Lane  York

www.nspcc.org.uk Services in York include: Therapy Team to help children and their 
families when abuse has occurred.  Mothers' Support Group for 
eg.  24hr child protection helpline.

NYCC - North Yorkshire County 
Council  Northallerton

www.northyorks.gov.uk

Older Citizen's Advocacy York                                                 
52 Townend Street  York  YO31 
7QG                              

ocay@btconnect.com Promotes the rights of individuals over 50 yrs who are 
experiencing disagreements or complaints about services, care., 
social, health or general issues.

Optician  - home visiting        
Lloyds Pharmacy

www.lloydspharmacy Free NHS eye test in your own home for certain age groups or 
those with eye problems for eg glaucoma.  Contact PALS for 
further contacts.

Our Celebration                         
Highcliffe House   Highcliffe Court  
York YO30 6BP               

www.ourcelebation.org.uk Aims to help adults recovering from Mental Ill Health to  improve 
their quality of life  and long term prospects.  Work related 
training, craft workshops clubs and leisure.

PACT  Participation, Advocacy, 
Consultancy and Training)                               
George House  18 George Street  
York  YO1 9QB

www.childrensociety.org.uk Direct services, training and participation in projects for disabled 
children and young people up to the age of 25.

Pals -  NYYPCT www.nyypct.nhs.uk Patient Advice and Liaison Service for local NHS service for eg 
find a GP, dentist, complaints etc. Carers' comments and 
concerns re healthcare services.

PALS - YDH www.nyypct.nhs.uk Patient Advice and Liaison Service

P
age 113



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
Parent Line www.parentlineplus.org.uk Help and information to parents or carers on any parenting issue.

Parkinson's Disease Society Information and support to help sufferers and relatives lead as 
full a life as possible.

Parkinson's Disease Society - York 
Branch

www.parkinsons.org.uk Information and emotional support 

Peasholme Resettlement Centre                                            
The Basement Office  28 St Mary's 
Bootham  York YO30 7DD

www.peasholmecharity.org.uk Resettlement centre for homeless adults or those at risk or 
becoming homeless.  7 day a week service.

POLICE - non emerg                   
Fulford   York

www.northyorkshire.police.uk In an EMERGENCY 999

Postural Stability Classes www.nyypct.nhs.uk Self referral.  "Steady as you Go" classes in Clifton, Tang Hall and 
Acomb.  Aims to improve posture, balance and confidence for 
over 60's who have a history or may be at risk or falling.

Princes Trust www.princes-trust.org.uk Helps young people through training, skill building, personal 
development and study outside school.

Princess Royal Trust for Carers www.carers.org PRTC is the largest provider of support services in the UK.  
Independently managed Carers' Centres,  Young Carer Services.  
Quality information, support and advice.  Influences national, 
regional and local policy. Provides grants for respite services and 
young carer activities also educational bursaries.

Priory Street Centre                 15-
17 Priory Street  York  YO1 6ET

www.york.gov.uk Fully equipped and accessible rooms which can be adapted for 
events, training, meetings and conferences etc.

RADAR www.york.gov.uk National key scheme for disabled people to access public toilets 
which are normally locked.  £3 charge and proof of disability 
required.  Tourist Information at 9 St Leonards Place. Also holiday 
and travel information see RADAR web page

P
age 114



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
Railcard - Senior www.senior-railcard.co.uk Persons over 60 can apply for a railcard to give them one third off 

standard and first class rail fares.
Recovery after Psychosis (RAP) 
Early Intervention Service

Group of Parent Carers of young people with first episodes of 
mental health problems

Red Cross   - Transport             5 
Marsden Park  James Nicholson 
Link.  Clifton Moor York 

www.redcross.org.uk Volunteer transport service for people who cannot easily use 
public transport.

Reflect www.reflectyork.co.uk Pregnancy counselling for those facing an unplanned pregnancy.

Relate                                                                                                                                                                 
Relate - Teen                                                                                               

www.relateweb.co.uk Confidential counselling service for people having difficulties or 
anxieties in marriage or any couple in a relationship.  Relate-Teen 
is a service for young people affected by parents' relationship 
difficulties.

REMAP www.remap.org.uk Makes one off pieces of special equipment for the disabled

Resource Centre for Deafened 
People                      Bootham   
House  61  Bootham  York  Y030 
7BT

Advice on equipment etc.  Drop in Thurs 10.00am - 5pm    Advice 
on hearing aids, special telephones, tv/audio aids, smoke alarms 
etc.  Deaf awareness training

Rethink:  The York Fellowship and 
York Schizophrenia Fellowship

Offers support and information to those who suffer from any 
serious psychiatric problems, their families and friends

Riding for the Disabled (York and 
District)                                 29 
Heworth Hall Drive  YO31 1AG

Riding therapy for disabled children and adults.

ROCC - Representatives of CUE 
(Community Units for the Elderly)

For those carers of people who use the elderly MH services in 
York.  Currently chaired by the Alzheimer's Society

P
age 115



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
Salvation Army                           The 
Citadel  Gillygate  York  YO31 7EA

www.salvationarmy.org.uk Helps needs people with social problems.  Dedicated homeless 
project team, food parcels clothing.  Also run Healthy Eating 
sessions for people with a LD to plan, budget and cook basic 
meals.

Salvation Army LD Advocacy www.salvationarmy.org.uk Independent advocates to assist people with LD to speak up for 
their rights and entitlements and help solve their problems

Samaritans                                   89 
Nunnery Lane  York  YO23 1AH               

www.samaritans.org  Registered charity.  Support line for people experiencing feelings 
of distress or despair.

Saneline www.sane.org.uk For anyone coping with mental illness.  Will signpost to local area 
service.

SCOPE www.scope.org.uk National disability organisation whose focus is people with 
cerebral palsy. 

Selby Carers Centre                      
The Coordinator                              
Unit 18  Ousegate Business Centre  
Ousegate  SELBY YO8 4NN

www.wilfward.org.uk Carers Centre to support unpaid carers.  Young Carer Service also 
available.

Shared Housing Scheme        
Basement  28 StMary's  York 
YO307DD

www.peasholmecharity.org.uk Temporary supported accommodation for people who have been 
homeless

Sharing Care                                
Ashbank  1 Shipton Rd  Clifton  
York   YO30 5RE

www.york.gov.uk Provides a break for families with a disabled child.  Can be a few 
hours or days.

Shopmobilty                                
Piccadilly Car Park  (level 2)  
Coppergate Centre   York.

www.shopmobilityyork.org.uk Scheme to enable people who find walking distances an obstacle 
to shopping and other city centre activities.  Mobility  equipment 
for hire for (temp) longer periods

Skills for Care                              15 
Priory Street  York  YO1 6ET                                       

www.skillforcare-yh-org.uk In partnership with Skills for Health and DOH to increase 
understanding of the important role carers play in the delivery of 
social care. Training to workers in all areas of social care.  Looks 
at training for people who have never worked in social care and 
those who already work in it.

P
age 116



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
SNAPPY (Special Needs an Play 
Provision)                           Young 
Groves Centre 84 Lowther Street  
YORK  YO31 7LX

www.snappyyork.co.uk Special Needs and Play Provision in York.  Saturday schemes and 
summer schemes.  Senior SNAPPY club for young people 15 - 25 
with social events.

SSAFA - Soldiers, Sailors, Airman 
and Families Association)

www.ssafa.org.uk A national charity helping serving and ex-service men, women 
and their families.  Confidential support line.

St Leonards Hospice                 185 
Tadcaster Rd  York  YO24 1GL

www.stleonardshospice.org.uk A specialist palliative care unit.  Support to families.

Stroke Association                    
Office D7  The Raylor Centre  
James Street  York YO10 3DW

wendy.smart@stroke.org.uk New service to York which hopes to start providing information, 
advice and support early in 2010. 

Surestart - York
Survive  - Survivors of Child Sexual 
Abuse in North Yorkshire                                        
15 Priory Street  York

www.survive-northyorks.org.uk Telephone helpline and one to one meetings and self help groups 
for survivors of sexual abuse and their families and friends

Survivors UK  (for men)
Talkback  North Yorkshire For people with LD and their carers.  Will offer support to family 

carers. Aims to give family carers a voice and support them to 
advocate for themselves, to be involved in planning and delivery 
of services.

Telecare Services www.york.gov.uk Home safety and personal security system for vulnerable adults 
of any age. Equipment such as personal trigger alarm, bogus call 
button, smoke detector, fall detector, flood detector PIR 
(movement detector)

TV Licensing www.tvlicensing.co.uk Free to over 75. 50% concession for the blind and severely sight 
impaired.

P
age 117



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
The Island                                          
St Columba's Foundation            
Priory Street                                    
York YO1 6EX

www.theislandyork.org.uk Support to vulnerable young people 8-13 as they make the 
transition from primary to secondary school. Volunteer mentors 
aim to help children and young people feel "included".

Victim Support North Yorks www.victimsuport.org.uk Help people cope with crime.  Works with Police, Courts et.

Warden Call www.york.gov.uk 24/7 service.  In an emergency staff alert services, contact GP, 
relatives etc.  Mobile warden service.  Advice and information.

Warm Front www.warmfront.co.uk Grants available for loft insulation, draught proofing, heating etc. 
For owner occupiers and those with a private landlord.

Welfare Benefits Unit Benefits advice to professionals only in NY and York.  Training, 
take up campaigns.  

Welfare Rights www.carersentre.com A new advice line and online resource for carers.  Easy to use 
Benefit Guides, message boards and live chat where carers can 
ask questions and share their stories.  A 3yr pilot from the 
Princess Royal Trust for Carers and Santander (The Abbey 
Building Society).

Wheelchair Centre                         
Bluebeck House  Bluebeck Drive  
Shipton Rd  York

www.nyypct.nhs.uk Wheelchair supply by referral.  Repairs, delivery and collection.

Wilberforce Trust                      49 
North Moor Rd  Huntington  York 
YO32 9QN

www.wilberforcetrust.org.uk Provider of accommodation, care support, rehabilitation and 
training to adults with visual impairments and additional 
disabilities

Wilf Ward Family Trust www.wilfward.org.uk Providing community based services for adults with LD
William Merritt Disabled Living 
Centre and Mobility Service      St 
Mary's Hospital  Green Hill Road  
Armley  Leeds LS12 3QE

www.williammerrittleeds.org Free OT assessment and advice on equipment and practical 
aspects of daily living.  For disabled people of all ages, their 
carers, professionals and older people.  Do not sell products but 
will give suppliers.  Also do driving assessments for eg someone 
wishing to drive again following a stroke but there is a charge.

Winter Fuel Helpline www.direct.gov.uk

P
age 118



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
Women's Counselling Service                                           
15 Priory Street  York  YO1 6ET

Counselling for women on a wide range of issues.

Woodlands MS Resource Centre 
& Respite Care Centre

www.mssociety.org.uk Nursing respite care resource centre. Also information, advice 
and support regarding any issue affecting people with Multiple 
Sclerosis, their family and carers

Workers' Educational Association www.wea.org.uk Educational courses around York with particular concern for 
those whose opportunities may have been limited.

Working Families Helpline
York Action on Young Homeless                                      
15 Priory Street  York

YAYH brings together agencies concerned with young people.  No 
services and no staff (c/o Colin Stroud) publishers Young People's 
Survival Guide to York.

York and District ME Group www.yorkmesupport.org.uk Support and information to those who have ME, their carers and 
families.  Offer friendship network, newsletter etc.

York Carers Centre                    
Manager;  Linda Stubbs           17 
Priory St  York Yo24 4AB

www.yorkcarerscentre.co.uk Supports adult and young carers with all issues and problems 
which may arise as a result of caring.  Information on  benefits, 
respite, support groups, holidays and employment.

York Carers Forum                     15 
Priory Street  York  YO1 6ET

www.yorkcarersforum@tiscali.co.uk Carer led organisation to offer support to unpaid carers. 
Promotes carers needs, shares info and identifies carers needs.  
Monthly meeting to offer support/information and have speakers 
from CYC and other organisations.

York Diocese Social Carer Group

York District Hospital                     
Wiggington Rd    York  YO31 8HE

www.yorkhospitals.nhs.uk Part of York Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. Wards, A& E. PALS 
service

York Drug Resource Scheme       
70 The Mount    York

www.compass-uk.org See also Compass as this address is for prescription/referral only

York Mediation Service www.york.gov.uk CYC service for people experiencing for eg problem with 
neighbours, landlords etc.

P
age 119



Annex D

Organisation Website Detail -  Correct as at 1/1/2010
York Nightstop (and crashpad)   
Central Methodist Church  St 
Saviourgate  York  YO1 8NQ

www.york-nightstop.org.uk Referrals from Castlegate, CAB,Peasholme,Salvation Army etc.  
Short term free emergency accommodation for homeless people 
(16-25) in the private homes of volunteers.

York Racial Equality Network 
(YREN)                                                  
20 Falsgrave Crescent                    
York YO30 7AZ

YREN is a local group working to promote the awareness and 
needs of black and minority ethnic people in the York area.

York Travellers Trust                20 
Falsgrave Crescent  Clifton York  
YO30 7AZ

www.yttworldbreak.com Works with the travellers community.  Wide range of services, 
advocacy, advice, drug and alcohol advice, housing support

York Wheels                                The 
Foyer  York District Hospital  
Wiggington Rd  York

www.yorkwheels.org.uk Voluntary organisation providing transport to persons who 
because of age or disability cannot access public transport.

Yortime www.yortime.org.uk A guide to clubs and organisations in and around York.  Events 
calendar and group directory - part of CYC Leisure and Library 
Service.

Yorvik Gateway Club                
Oaken Grove Community Centre  
Reid Park  Usher Lane  Haxby  
YO32 3QZ

www.mencap.org.uk Social club for adults with LD.  Supports members and promotes 
independent living skills and learning opportunities.

Young Carers Initiative www.yorkcarerscentre.co.uk National group for people who work to support young carers and 
their families.   See also York Carers Centre

Young Carers Service                 17 
Priory Street  YORK  YO1 6ET

www.yorkcarerscentre.co.uk Advice and support to young carers under 18.  A service for 18-
25yr olds is also available.  Member of the Princess Royal Trust 
for Carers. One to one and group activities.

P
age 120



Annex D

Groups Venue Times - please check - 
MS Cafe/drop in centre Haxby Community Centre Fridays - 11.00am - 15.00pm
York Stroke Support Group St Andrews Church  Bishopgate 3rd Wed on each month
York Neurological Support Group 
(for people with dystonia, 
families and carers) 

Contact Helen 01904 236133

Alzheimers Society/Harmony 
Cafe

Ring 658106 3rd Sat of each month

York Deaf Social Club
Kirk Cafe The Folk Hall  New Earswick 1st Thursday of the month 11-1pm (for 

people with or carers for people with 
memory problems.

Headway - brain injury Priory Street -Helpline 08088002244 Meet 3rd Tuesday of the month

Parkinsons Community Centre  Huntington - 
ring 08442253634

First Monday of the month

St Sampsons Church - rest and 
companionship for aged 60+

St Sampsons

York Carers Centre and Young 
Carers

See newsletters for details of 
events.

York Carers Forum City Mills  Skeldergate  Cafe/ meeting 4th Monday of the month

York Macular Disease Support 
Group

YBPSS  Holgate Villa Friendly and informal group. 2nd Monday 
morning or alternate months. Subscription 
charge or £1 per meeting.

Information correct at at 1/1/2010 - Support Groups

P
age 121



P
age 122

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	
	4 Carer's Review
	Paper 1 Good practice other areas draft
	Paper 2 Current practice and York Carers Strategy Group draft
	Annex A
	Annex B
	Annex C
	Paper 3 Key Partners
	Annex D


